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Tuesday, April 18, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

Sorry about the delay in getting started.  I thought we were still having technical difficulties and were just waiting for things to be resolved that aren't being worked on.  So anyway...

My name is Ken Quesnelle, and I'll be presiding over this hearing.  With me in the Panel in this case is my Board member colleague, Victoria Christie.


We are here this morning to hear applications from Union Gas Limited, Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., and Natural Resource Gas Limited, filed on November 15th, 2016, seeking approval of the cost consequences arising from each of their cap and trade compliance plans for the January 1st to December 1st, 2017 time period.

The gas utilities filed their applications in accordance with the OEB's Report of the Board – Regulatory Framework for Assessment of Costs of Natural Gas Utilities' Cap and Trade Activities (Cap and Trade Framework).

On November 24th, 2016, the OEB issued a notice of hearing for a combined public hearing to consider the Union, Enbridge, and NRG cap and trade compliance plan applications.

On January 27th, 2017, the OEB issued Procedural Order No. 1, granting intervenor status to certain parties.  The order included a draft issues list and an invitation for parties to provide comments.

The Board implemented the manner in which it would deal with confidential information and the manner it would be treated in accordance with the cap and trade framework.  Procedural Order No. 1 also set the schedule for written discovery and for this oral hearing.

The Board approved the final issues list through Procedural Order No. 2 on February 17th, and this Panel has adopted a hearing plan that the OEB Staff crafted with input from the parties last week, and that plan was communicated to all parties by letter from the OEB Secretary.

So now I'll take appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Dennis O'Leary for Enbridge Gas Distribution.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Panel, Tom Brett for BOMA.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Brett, good morning.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Elson.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel to the School Energy Coalition.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Rubenstein.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Good morning.  Laura Van Soelen, counsel to Industrial Gas Users Association, or IGUA.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Ms. Van Soelen.

MR. GARDNER:  Good morning, Panel.  Matt Gardner, counsel for the Low Income Energy Network.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Gardner.

MR. ZIDARIC:  Good morning.  My name is Zeljko Zidaric.  I'm on the phone.  I'm just a private citizen, a customer of Enbridge.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  And I didn't quite catch the name, please.  Do we have the name from Board Staff?  Are we aware of this?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, sir.

MR. ZIDARIC:  Zeljko Zidaric.  You can call me Zed.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We do have Mr. Zidaric on the --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Zidaric.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- list of approved intervenors.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Okay.  I'll refer to that.  Thank you, Mr. Zidaric.

MS. VINCE:  Good morning.  My name is Joanna Vince, and I'm counsel for the Ontario Sustainable Energy Association.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning,  Ms. Vince.

MS. JAMIESON:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Lisa Jamieson, and I'm with TransCanada Pipelines.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Ms. Jamieson.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan.  Good morning, on behalf of the Consumers' Council of Canada.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Ms. Girvan.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Panel.  John Vellone on behalf of APPrO.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vellone.  Good morning.

MR. POLLOCK:  Good morning.  Scott Pollock on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Pollock.

MS. SEARS:  Good morning.  Miriam Sears on behalf of Union Gas, and to my immediate left I have Adam Sears; to his left Steve Dancer; and with us also, Chris Gagner, also from Union Gas.

MS. SEARS:  Ms. Sears.  Thank you.

MR. BASILIO:  [Microphone not activated]

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, could you come closer to the mic?  I'm not sure the court reporter can pick that up.

MS. WAINWRIGHT:  Good morning.  Linda Wainwright on behalf of Six Nations Natural Gas.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Ms. Wainwright.  Thank you.

Do we have anyone from NRG here this morning?  No, not this morning?  Okay.  Board Staff.

MR. LIPPOLD:  Just on the phone, Mr. Quesnelle, Brian, from Natural Resource Gas.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Sorry, your full name, please.

MR. LIPPOLD:  Brian Lippold from Natural Resource Gas.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Lippold.  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Also on the phone is Randy Aiken, consultant for the London Property Management Association.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Aiken.

Okay.  Is that everyone on the phone?  And anyone here, and Board Staff?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, good morning, Mr. Chair.  Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for OEB Staff, and with me from Staff are Laurie Klein, Josh Wasylyk, Rachele Levin, and Pascale Duguay.
Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Djurdjevic.

Okay.  As we had contemplated in the hearing plan that was issued last week that I referred to just a few moments ago, we will be hearing from Enbridge first.  And Enbridge has two panels, Mr. O'Leary, I understand, so --


MR. O'LEARY:  Correct, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- perhaps we could start with introductions of your first panel and any lead that you have.

MR. O'LEARY:  I would be delighted to, sir.

First of all, introductions.  Starting on the closest to me, we have Ms. Jennifer Murphy, who is environmental senior advisor, carbon strategy.  To her left is Ms. Fiona Oliver-Glasford, manager, carbon strategy.  To her left is Mr. Andrew Langstaff, carbon strategy, business readiness specialist.  And to his left is Mr. Anton Kacicnik, manager of rates.

Could I ask that they be sworn in, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, we will affirm them at this point.  Ms. Christie?

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1

Jennifer Murphy,
Fiona Oliver-Glasford,
Andrew Langstaff,
Anton Kacicnik; Affirmed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.

MADAM REPORTER:  Excuse me, whoever is coughing, I'm wondering if they could turn off their mic, because I can't hear over top of them.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  There's a microphone button, a green button at the front of the --


MADAM REPORTER:  No, they're not on.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, your microphone is on.  I'm not sure what's happening.  No?  Okay.  It's just picking up -- that microphone is on.  Thank you.  Okay.  It seems like it's off now.  Not a problem.  Thank you very much.

Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary, go ahead.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  If I could turn to you, Ms. Oliver-Glasford.  Could I ask you to confirm whether the evidence that was prepared in this filing was prepared under the direction of this panel and with their support and direction?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, it was.

MR. O'LEARY:  And can I ask you whether or not on behalf of the panel that you will adopt this evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I will.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.

Our evidence-in-chief is going to consist of a fairly brief presentation, Mr. Chair.  With your permission, I would ask Ms. Oliver-Glasford to proceed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Yes, please, by all means do.
Presentation by Ms. Oliver-Glasford:


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Good morning, Mr. Quesnelle, Ms. Christie.  Thank you for allowing Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. the opportunity to present an overview of our cap and trade 2017 compliance plan.

Just by way of outline, we will be covering quickly the background and fundamentals of cap and trade in order to level set program facts to start this proceeding, then move into key program milestones, Enbridge's obligations, how Enbridge addressed the framework in developing its 2017 cap and trade compliance plan, including planning for, reporting upon, and -- planning for and reporting upon the compliance plan.  Finally, we will outline the outcome that we are seeking via this proceeding.

As part of Ontario's climate change strategy, it is committed to aggressive targets, including a 37 percent reduction from 1990 levels to 2030 and 80 percent from 1990 levels to 2015, as you can see in this basic diagram here. With respect to how the government determined it would reach these objectives, it selected a cap and trade program in order to address carbon pricing in the province and reduce emissions.

This slide runs through some basics on the cap and trade program.  Firstly, what are called cap participants must acquire permits, called allowances or credits, to match their reported greenhouse gas emissions.  One allowance for credit equals 1 ton of CO2E.  So when we talk about an allowance or a credit, we are actually talking about one ton of CO2E emissions.

The cap that the government has set for cap and trade will decline each year by approximately 4 percent, and allowances are created and issued by the government.  They have provided free allowances and will be providing early reduction credits to large final emitters and opt-in participants.

There will be four options per year where they will issue their allowances plus strategic sale reserves or reserve sales.

Once those allowances are out in the market, the entities can trade with one another and the market, creating the trade in cap and trade.

The first compliance period is four years, running from 2017 to 2020, at which point, November 1st of 2021, we need to remit the required obligation allowances to the government.

The market in 2017 is Ontario only.  A future linkage with California and Quebec is anticipated, but still to be determined.

We can procure -- any participant with an obligation can procure up to 8 percent in offset credits towards their full compliance obligation.

This slide outlines three types of participants in cap and trade.  Firstly, we have the mandatory capped participants, which includes field distributors, electricity importers and large final emitters, those using more than 25,000 tons of CO2E per year.  Enbridge Gas Distribution falls in this category.

Voluntary opt-in participants is the next category of participants in the program, and they are those large -- those emitters that are large-ish, shall we say.  They fall just below the 25,000 tons of CO2E, so they fall in a range where they can elect to procure their own allowances instead of having the natural gas utility procure on their behalf.

Lastly, the last group of participants are market participants, and they are any entity who would like to participate in the marketplace for commercial or environmental reasons, and a bank might be an example of this.  Just to go back to give an example of a voluntary opt-in participant, that might be a small manufacturer, for example.

This slide shows the Ontario cap and trade market at a high level, outlining the full number of allowances to be released by the government in 2017.

We have shown in the yellow part of the pie chart the reserve sales, the 5 percent holdback that the government will do of their allowances.

We've shown in the blue section the 24 percent.  That's the estimated -- it is just an estimated number of what will be issued by the government for free allowances to large final emitters in the province.

The final amount, the 71 percent of that full 142 million allowances being issued this year, will be provided by the government through its four auctions.

Enbridge is not eligible for free allowances, as a point of note.  As another note, of the roughly hundred million allowances remaining for the market, Enbridge's total obligation has forecasted at just over 21 million.

It has been an extremely busy year, with the act passed under Royal assent less than a year ago.  Everyone working on the cap and trade file in the province has been under extremely demanding timelines.  As a natural gas utilities, we've been understanding and responding to a series of key program milestones and anticipate additional milestones during the course of the year, including the Board’s 10 year carbon price forecast and marginal abatement cost curver, or MACC, as it is known, the final offset regulation and protocols, early reduction credit guidance, and WCI linkage determination, being the key of likely many others.

The OEB's framework was issued by the Board in September.  Enbridge filed its compliance plan in mid-November, and we are now at the oral hearing five months later, with our next compliance plan due in just over three months from today, noting August 1st, 2017, as the final deadline for our subsequent compliance plan.

The utilities' primary obligations are twofold, the first to the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, or the MOECC.  We are to report and verify natural gas related to GHG, and we have been doing so for a number of years, but only for your facility-related obligations.  Now, as a part of cap and trade, that includes our customer-related emissions, and we need to broadly comply with the Climate Change Act and related regulations as a capped participant.

For the Ontario Energy Board, we need to submit our compliance plan as per the cap and trade framework of EB-2015-0363.  We need to create volumetric forecasts based on Board-approved methodology, and recover costs volumetrically from customers.

This slide speaks to that volumetric approach.  When we look at Enbridge's compliance obligation overall, to give you a sense of where the GHGs are being derived, 99 percent of our GHGs for the year are customer-related emissions.  One percent are roughly facility-related emissions.

So we can see the breakdown that we've provided, the total adding up to just over 21 million tons of CO2E.

Customer -- our rate 1 average customer using roughly 2,400 M-cubes per year, their rate impact will be roughly $80 a year at a volumetric charge of 3.3518 cents per M cubed.

The Board ultimately took a principle-based approach to the cap and trade compliance plan filings.

Enbridge followed the Board's framework and, in particular, was responsive to the Board’s six guiding principles of cost effectiveness, rate predictability, cost recovery, transparency, flexibility, and continuous improvement.

We did this in the context of compliance.  Enbridge also took note of and followed the Board's directions, including those around forecasting methodologies, communications and rate design.

This slide is not inclusive of all the milestones, but seeks to provide a more simplistic look at the key milestones for this particular 2017 cap and trade compliance plan hearing.

As you can see here, the Climate Change Act was passed in May 2016.  The cap and trade regulation was issued by the government in July 2016. Subsequently, the OEB cap and trade framework was issued in September of 2016, and the natural gas utility compliance plans were due November 2016.

Many timelines are still unknown, and the timelines were tight for us to produce this one-year compliance plan, given this is a new program and a nascent market.

And as such, Enbridge commenced with a prudent and measured one-year compliance plan for 2017 within the context of a four-year compliance period.

Enbridge worked diligently to learn about and stay abreast of the cap and trade program updates, including legislation and market changes.  This education included regular engagement with market experts, associations, and other market intelligence channels, as well as leveraging internal resource experience in relevant as well as transferable markets.

The sum of this education and increased understanding of the carbon marketplace informed thinking on understanding risks, forecasting costs, structuring governance, and becoming business-ready to implement cap and trade starting January 1st of this year.

Even though timelines were tight and the carbon market is nascent, Enbridge feels that it has developed a thoughtful 2017 compliance plan strategy.  Enbridge assessed the viability of longer-term investments in our 2017 compliance plan and expects that for future compliance plans with more experience, less unknowns, including the presentment of a MACC, there will be a better opportunity to provide an expanded better long-term view.

This slide simply shows the three elements of a compliance plan, broadly speaking.  We submitted a compliance plan, as we've mentioned, in mid-November, and the compliance plan includes market instruments, including allowances and offsets, customer abatement, and facility abatement.

Enbridge understands that it is expected to file annual monitoring reports with the Board by August 1st of the year following implementation.  Those reports will provide detailed information on actual activity versus forecasts and other information as necessary to inform future planning.

Enbridge will also have regular reporting internally to its carbon procurement governance group, the group that we often refer to as our CPGG, so you will hear us refer to the CPGG throughout, perhaps, the hearing.  And that regular reporting will help inform thoughtful decision-making processes.

As well, Enbridge has proposed additional reporting to the Board where particular material thresholds have been triggered.  Those thresholds include 25 percent increase in actual weighted average cost of an allowance, 25 percent change in forecasted volumes or significant market changes that require notification.

Given a hearing with this level of confidentiality is unique to Enbridge, we have outlined the various levels of confidentiality for cap and trade.  Enbridge did seek to balance caution with transparency in its filing of its compliance plan, recognizing that an error in judgment in this respect may be costly to ratepayers.

Enbridge still supports that at the start of this market it would be wise to err on the side of caution versus inadvertently share information with those that have a commercial interest in making money in this market.

And it is important that we be reminded that Enbridge has a statutory requirement for confidentiality that is unique in the cap and trade program, given that its functioning is similar to a financial market, and the various excerpts of the confidential obligations outlined by the act are captured in the Board's framework, Appendix C.

In sum, recognizing that in their framework on page 1 the OEB indicates that it will assess the utilities' compliance plans for cost-effectiveness, reasonableness, and optimization and ultimately determine whether to approve the associated cap and trade costs for recovery from customers, Enbridge seeks via this proceeding a determination that the compliance plan is reasonable and consistent with the framework and a determination that the resulting costs are prudent and appropriate.

Thank you for your attention to Enbridge's introduction presentation.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Oliver-Glasford.

I take it, Mr. O'Leary, this slide deck is part of the evidence, and we can perhaps give it an exhibit number?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir, that would be appropriate.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.1.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  EGDI PRESENTATION.

MR. O'LEARY:  And with that, the panel is now available for cross-examination, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  I understand, Mr. Rubenstein, you will be going first this morning?  A slight variation to the order that was presented last week, but that's fine, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I will.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, Panel.  My name is Mark Rubenstein, and I'm counsel to the School Energy Coalition.

I have prepared a compendium.  I am wondering if we can have that marked as an exhibit and if copies could be provided to the Panel.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do the other parties have a copy of this compendium?  We only have a few here for the Panel and Staff.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We have copies.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The compendium contains information on the record as well as a document I provided to my friends in advance.

Panel, I'd like to start at the 20,000-foot view just so I can understand Enbridge's responsibilities in the cap and trade program and get into some specifics about the approvals that you are seeking.

As I understand it, Enbridge, under the cap and trade program -- and I think you talked about this briefly in your presentation, is responsible for two things:

"It must acquire by the end of the compliance period enough allowances or offsets to meet the GHG admissions first that it releases from its own facilities."

Correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then second -- and so to be clear, you are seeking approval in this application for the 2017 cost to meet the expected admissions from your facilities in 2017; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We will be charging customers as they use or based on their volumetric usage, but I can't confirm whether we are matching our usage for the year with our procurement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, so we don't know that.  Okay.

And second, you are required to essentially manage the GHG compliance costs for your customers, with the exception of -- I think the framework uses the term "large final emitters", but it's capped for voluntary purchase -- you are essentially managing their GHG compliance costs; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that is accurate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so these customers will ultimately be the ones who burn the natural gas, emit the GHG emissions instead of the homeowner, the small business, the school, ensuring they have enough allowance in offset credits to match their emissions.  You are doing that essentially on their behalf.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, we will be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so in this application you are seeking approval of the cost you expect to need to do that in 2017 to meet the 2017 customer-forecasted GHG admissions, which is based on your forecasted 2017 volumes, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, recognizing there will be a true-up to ensure that the costs are assessed at the end of the year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to the compendium on page 2, this is essentially what we see on page 2.  On column 1 you have the budgeted volumes by rate class, then essentially you've removed -- in column 2 you are pulling out the volumes for customers.  You are not responsible to manage their GHG emissions.  Then you get the net volumes in column 3; then in column 4 those are the emissions that would relate to those volumes, then you have assumed a cost of allowances, correct?  And then you multiply that by the emissions, you get your cost by emissions, by rate class, and then you derive the unit rate on a volume basis; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  At a high level, your plan to meet the GHG obligations for your own facilities and your customers is -- you could do it through a number of ways: purchasing allowance in auctions, secondary market, offset credits, et cetera.

Do I understand -- I know we can't talk about the specifics of what your plan is, but that's a general sense of how you or anyone else could go about meeting their GHG obligations under the cap and trade program, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then in a second way, you could lower the level of emissions that would lower essentially the volume of usage, which will lower the emissions, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that would be one way to meet your obligation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Or you can essentially use a substitute natural gas product that will emit less GHGs per -- per metre cubed of gas, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that product would be renewable natural gas, which would be essentially be like-for-like and be netted out of the obligation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the meat of the compliance plan, as I understand it, is how you are going to determine the mix of credits or offsets.  That's really the meat of the compliance plan, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Certainly I can't speak to specifics, but yes, primarily we would be looking at allowances and offsets to meet our obligation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And with respect to the compliance plan itself, determining how you plan to make that -- to determine the mix and what type of market activities, that's really the core of the compliance plan that you are putting forward before the Board.  Is that fair?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think that's fair.  I think when we're talking about the financial instruments, there are a range of financial instrument options.  So if that's what you are referring to, then yes, it would be selecting between those.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand it, you are unable to provide to intervenors on a public or confidential basis what that mix is, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.  We have a statutory obligation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You have more than just a statutory obligation; there is a market sensitive category, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's right, there is a market sensitive category, as well as an auction sensitive.  So the act outlines not only identifying whether -- you know, for example, we've been to an auction either before or after, as well as tipping, which is a little bit broader in its understanding of impacting the market and given our size of obligation, that's a very real possibility.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So outside of the strictly confidential, that category of information which, as I understand it, includes the Climate Change Act confidential information and the market sensitive information, we don't know -- intervenors don't know how you actually plan to meet your obligations, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  The specifics on how we plan to meet our obligation, that would be accurate.  But generally that we intend to meet them and that there is good governance and decision-making processes in place, you can be assured of that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you are seeking approval in this application for the cost consequences to meet your obligations, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct, in 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What we do know is what you’ve done to determine the cost in this application to meet your cap and trade obligations.  I went through the analysis -- I went through how you derived that on page 2.  But you've assumed the cost of allowances at $17.70 per ton.  Do I understand that correctly?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that represents a proxy price that was calculated when we had the facts known to us in November.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, the methodology that you used at a high level is that you were making an assumption of what you believed would be the auction reserve price in the first auction, correct?

My understanding is the reserve price doesn't come out until the day before, so you made an assumption at that time of what you had expected it to be, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that was the assumption we made at that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We use the term "reserve price", but I understand that's just a fancy term for really the minimum price, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, the settling reserve price, yes.  It’s a bit confusing, because there is strategic reserve, which is the soft ceiling, and a reserve price, which is the settling price.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could turn to page 7 of the compendium.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Floor price.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is from the summary results of that first auction; do you see that?  Flip one more page.  Do you see that?  This is from that document?

It is the public summary results from the March 22nd auction.  Do you see that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, we see that, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What we do know from that, and we see that in table 2, was the reserve price that was actually in place was $18.07.  Do you see that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, we see that on the top line of table 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the settlement price was a cent more, $18.08, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is that the settlement price was essentially what the cost of allowances were in that auction.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you planning to update the application to take into account the difference between the assumed price that you've made and the actual reserve price or a settlement price, whichever you use?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  At this time, we will not be updating our evidence because the $17.70 is in fact an annual price that was selected as a proxy for rate-setting purposes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it your -- I'll say analysis that the price, the reserve prices may be lower at a different auction?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  One of the biggest variables in the price of an allowance and the floor price at an auction is the setting of the exchange rate.

So the exchange rate was particularly high.  We don't know where it's going to go as we move forward, but that certainly is a big factor in setting the floor price.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if you could update pages 2 and 3 of our compendium -- this is Exhibit G, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A, tables A1 and A2 -- assuming a cost of $18.07 instead of the $17.07.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  Does the compendium have an exhibit number?

MR. WASYLYK:  Yes, K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR EGDI PANEL 1


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, can you identify the page you were referring to again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is page 2 and 3 of our compendium.

MR. O'LEARY:  Just so that I'm clear, you are asking for, in effect, the Enbridge witnesses to substitute under column 5 the assumed cost of allowances of $17.70 using the settlement price of the first auction?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, the settlement price, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  You appreciate that is only going to give a mathematical new proxy?  It's not in any way connected with the confidential portion of the company's plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't have the confidential, so I don't know what's in that.  But I understand what it is.  It’s just a recalculation, a mathematical recalculation, just so we have it on the record.

MR. O'LEARY:  Certainly.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, we can undertake to update those tables.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  Can we mark this undertaking as 1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO UPDATE THE TABLES AT EXHIBIT G, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 1, APPENDIX A, TABLES A1 AND A2

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as I understand the application you are seeking specific approvals for a separate rate, volumetric rate, for the customer-related and the facilities-related cost; do I understand that correctly?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, you do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And each will individually appear on the tariff; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  They are appearing individually on our rate schedules, and when we bill customers, those charges are rolled into our delivery charges, so they are part of our delivery charges.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But just to be clear, on the tariff they will be separate, they are two separate charges.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, on the tariff they are listed separately.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you are seeking approval for both of those on a final basis; correct?  I understand there is a variance account, but as you are seeking -- the final basis for those amounts and then a variance account treatment; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yeah, that would be correct, assuming that the Board Panel approves our forecasting methodology, which yielded $17.7 per tonne of emissions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you are seeking the new variance account to record the difference between the actual revenues collected from the cap and trade tariff amounts and the actual costs you incurred to meet those obligations; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just -- I want to understand what that means.  Essentially it's going to record the differences both in changes of volume from what you've recorded and changes in the cost of compliance; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, in essence, that would be correct --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And --


MR. KACICNIK:  -- because our emissions obligations, it is on actual emissions, meaning actual volumes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that you will -- it is all rolled into one rate, and so you are not seeking a variance account for each specific rate class and changes in, say, their individual volumes; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  No, that is not correct.  The variance account will capture the total variance between our actual cost of emissions versus actual revenues that we collected from customers from cap and trade charges.

For example, if we go back to the example we just talked about, and let's assume that there is no change in volumes and therefore total emissions for 2017, but the price of allowances increased from 17.7 dollars per tonne to 18.08 per tonne, so that would yield a variance of $8 million that would be recorded in the variance account.  And then that variance would be apportioned between customer-related and facility-related emissions.  And once we have that, we would derive unit rates for customer-related true-up and facility-related true-up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So because there is variance account treatment, am I correct that there is no forecast risk for Enbridge; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  It works both ways.  The variance account was structured to keep both customers and the utility whole with respect to cost of allowances.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand the true-up process, the clearing of the 2017 balances, whatever's in that account, will occur at the time of the filing of the 2019 compliance plan?  So I think you're filing -- you are supposed to file that summer of 2018; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  That is correct.  The amount to be trued-up would be filed by August 1st, 2018.  That's the amount to be trued up for 2017 would be filed by August 1st, 2018 as part of 2019 compliance plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I understand what exactly the process of the true-up will look like.

With respect to cost differences, so let's -- for example, if the Board approves your application as filed, and if the average cost per tonne ends up not being $17.70 but, say, $20, what would be in the account would be the revenue difference between your -- let's say the volumes match your forecasts -- would be the difference between $20 and the 17.70 multiplied, obviously, by the volumes; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  That is correct, assuming that actual volumes and emissions equal forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the Board will determine in that proceeding if the actions you took or what you had forecasted, the difference between the $20 and the 17.70, were prudent; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Well, we are dealing, I think, with two aspects here.  One is strictly related to the variance account, which would record the difference between actual cost and actual revenues, and the second part of the question really deals with how we met our compliance obligation, how we went about procuring tools to meet our compliance obligation.  So I expect that the Board will look at both.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just so I understand, if the only thing -- the only difference between plan is the cost, and the cost is, say, $20 instead of the 17.70, and you are seeking then to recover that additional amount that you didn't collect from customers, would I be correct that what the Board will be reviewing in that proceeding is to ensure that the $20 for the basis for why it's higher is prudent?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, I would fully agree with that.  You simplified the example for us, and, yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And let's just say instead of $17.70 the actual amount is $16, so now you've over-collected from your cost.  Would the Board review to determine if the difference was prudent?  So for example, if you had done some other action that your costs should have been less than $16, if you had taken some further action that you could have done, and the cost should have been $15, would the Board make -- would the Board be reviewing that or simply, it's lower than what you forecast, you just refund the money?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think at this point we have a sense of the type of performance metrics that the Board will be looking at, and certainly we understand that those will be the point of discussion in the working group, a subsequent working group that will be formed, but ultimately, you know, at this point we don't have the experience or the knowledge in order to determine how exactly everything is going to look.

I think it's fair to say we are going to be learning over the course of the year, but by the time that we're filing our first annual monitoring report next year, almost a year and a half's time away, we will have more experience, and ultimately it will be up to the Board to opine on how they would like to review and approve the costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So essentially you don't know yet.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could turn to page 15 of the compendium.  As I understand, this table is essentially how -- one of the ways you are going to report on your compliance plan, the forecast versus actuals, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, the first column would be plan or forecast and the second actuals.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we turn to page 16, this is an interrogatory from LPMA to Union, but it is just sort of a helpful guide, and I'd like your opinion on how this may apply to Enbridge.

Essentially LPMA asked Union -- they had a similar table and asked them, well, what's confidential and what's not confidential, that could be provided at the time of the disposing of the variance account.

And on page 17 -- it is a little cut off on the printed page, so look on the screen here.  Essentially in Union's view all that is read would be strictly confidential or confidential, and what could be publicly provided or what was being provided to intervenors was the line 9.

So essentially just the forecast on volumes and price per tonne on a weighted basis, forecast versus actuals.

Does Enbridge agree, from their perspective, that they would only be able to provide that information?  They couldn't provide in the true-up proceeding on -- the forecasts and actuals on a compliance instrument basis?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  At this point, we certainly are taking a case by case approach to what, when we have more experience, might be appropriate to be on the record.

However, I think in the case of certainly the financial instruments, those would not be appropriate in any way to be on the public record.

In terms of the abatement activities, I think we are just trying to understand how best to capture those elements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Going back to the earlier example, if the costs are $20 per ton, the actuals, as compared to your forecast of $17.70, will the public know why it's $20 per ton?  Will they be provided the information to understand why your actual costs were much higher than your forecast costs?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's fair to say that at a high-level, the public may have an understanding about where a market for carbon has gone, so the underlying policies or structure of the market might give them indications.  But the specific reasons, those would be under confidential cover.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand it, we talked about the disposition of the account.  I just want to understand how that actually either, whatever is approved credit or debit to be disposed of and either collected or returned to customers, how exactly that will be done.

Can you help me understand?  My understanding is it would by way of a one-time adjustment; do I have that correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that is correct and more detail on that topic is provided in interrogatory 2, Staff question number 24.  That's Exhibit I 4, EGDI Staff 24.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding of when -- just help me understand why exactly, when we talk about a one-time adjustment, what you will do is you will determine the amount of -- whatever the amount that you are either collecting or you need to return to customers, you will divide that by customers' actual 2017 volumes, which gets you a unit rate, and then you will bill each customer one time on the basis of that.  Is that correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is a retroactive adjustment, correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  While we are proposing to use actual volumes in that calculation, we don't see it is a being a retroactive adjustment.

Let me explain.  Currently there is two ways to true-up actual cost versus forecast cost.  For example, gas costs are being trued up quarterly.  There is a purchase gas variance account that looks at forecast costs versus actual costs of gas, and we have inputs going to that account quarterly.

Then we clear them over the forecast development period, and we also trued up what was supposed to be cleared versus what was actually cleared.  So, that's like an ongoing rolling approach.

Another approach is the annual clearance of the company's other deferral and variance accounts, and that takes place once annually, and those accounts are cleared to customers as a one time billing adjustment, using customer's actual volumes from the prior year.

The reason we are not seeing that as retroactive rate-making is that we are not changing the price or rates for our services provided, like gas supply service, transportation service, load balancing service, and distribution service.  What we are truing up is just specific cost elements, such as the cost of demand side management program and accounted for gas, where we may have an earning sharing mechanism, et cetera.

So we are not changing the price of services, but we are truing up specific cost elements that the Board deemed prudent to be dealt with in that way.

So, the company and the customers are being kept whole on those specific cost elements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, I don't mean it is impermissibly retroactive.  But it is retroactive whereas the way of the rolling forward and the QRAM is a retrospective way of adjusting past costs.

And I just want to understand.  Is there a -- what is Enbridge's view on the materiality of those potential adjustments as it compares to other times you make one time adjustments?

MR. KACICNIK:  For example, historically, when we cleared our deferral variance accounts, those could be refunds or those could be charges.

Historically, they could range from a refund of 10 or 20 million to charges from zero to 30 million.  Last year we had the largest balance to be cleared, and there is a  charge of 60 million.  So that was the largest ever.

I think second largest was about 33 million and the rest were lower.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And has Enbridge considered, though, how the materiality of changes in potential of this cap and trade forecast may be and if in doing so, is it still appropriate to do a simple one time adjustment versus spreading it other are over a certain time versus rolling it forward and so on?

MR. KACICNIK:  I would like to take you now to our response to Board Staff 24.  That is Exhibit I 4, EGDI Staff 24, and let's flip to page 2.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just while we are turning that up, I want to refer back to just a line ago, the letter that the Board put out with the case -- sorry, the hearing order and cross-examination.

We mentioned that we will require intervenors to restrict their examination to matters relevant to the determinations to be made as a result of these hearings.

Mr. Rubenstein, I don't mean that as a ruling on what you are asking right now, but I need to understand -- I think it is really important for the Panel to understand that, okay, given in the general sense the evolution and the timing of the schemes that are being put together, where we are in the whole cap and trade kind of oversight by multiple agencies, what needs to be determined now and what needs to be determined later.

So the disposition of these accounts, would you be expecting to be making argument on the mechanics of that and have this Panel make a determination on a future disposition, which is outside of this purview right now?  I just want to understand the timing of it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't expect to make extremely detailed over this -- but in terms of sort of a broad way, should it be done on a one time adjustment or a future essentially a rolling basis, in sort of a categorical way.  I potentially -- I wanted to understand how that worked potentially and to make a submission, if need be.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just for guidance, I think, to the parties, we are certainly not of the view, this panel at this time, in the general sense -- obviously, people can make their arguments, that we would be putting out anything more than we need to at this juncture, and not even suggest to future panels how things that are up for grabs in a disposition, the mechanics of a future disposition, because some of it will be.  You are questions about materiality.

If we need not make that determination now as to what the general sense is based on -- or what the list of things you would -- describe the lens in which a future panel should even look at that.

We are really being cautious.  We will be cautious as to only make determinations that are required based on the relief that is sought from the applicants in this time.

If there is something that you feel that we need to consider, keep that in mind in your argument.  I guess that what I'm getting at, given where we are today.

I would also, just for time management, knowing that people need not seek -- or through extensive cross-examinations on things that might inform a future panel.

We are here today, we have applications in for a one-year time period, and if things are going to fall out beyond that perspective, understand that that will be our rulings on that, but by all means, please, in your cross-examination, if you want to, it will help us if you can tie it through the determinations we need to make in this case, make that linkage for us through your cross-examinations, that will assist.

Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Chair, APPrO only has one line of enquiry, and it all relates to this issue as well.  That is issue number 4.  And our understanding of that issue is that in addition to asking whether or not the deferral and variance accounts are reasonable and appropriate, the Board also wanted to know whether the proposed disposition methodology was appropriate.  Both Enbridge and Union are proposing a one-time disposition, so that's the focus of our questioning, and I guess that's where Mr. Rubenstein was going as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand the framing of the issue, but I am just asking people to keep in mind the time frame, and if I understood your question -- or they -- and some of the responses, was that the actual disposition of this may be informed by what the quantums are and what-have-you.

So to that extent -- and that's what trigged (sic) my, you know, my concern here -- was that if we are going to be -- this panel will not be laying out, if scenario, you know, A arises, this is what the future panel should consider, or B.  So there is a bit of a, you know, an iterative process here.  I am just asking everybody to keep in mind the limited, you know, scope of this application based on the time frame that's before us, and keep that in context in your cross-examination.

Thank you, Mr. Vellone, for that clarification.

So I think we were going to go back to Board Staff 24, and I just wanted to lay out some context there of how the Panel is viewing these things before we went further on this.  Okay.

MR. KACICNIK:  Just take a second so that Board Staff 24 can be brought up.

Okay.  So the response is up, and if we look at the fourth paragraph on page 2, you will see that we leave the room open for the most suitable methodology for disposition to be determined at the time when the Board considers disposition of the account balance.

So it says:

"While the most suitable approach in which to dispose of variance account balance is best determined or devised once the magnitude of the account balance and the disposition timing are known, the company anticipates that the proposed disposition of the 2017 variance account balance would be similar to the Board-approved methodology for disposition of the company's other or existing deferral and variance account balances to customers."

And the reason we said that is that the Board determined in their cap and trade regulatory framework on page 32, item 6.2.1, that deals with recalibration in two processes, what they determined there is the following:

"The OEB has decided that the recalibration of the rates for customer-related and facility-related costs and any required true-ups should be done annually.  Annual reviews will provide the opportunity to manage any volatility in the carbon markets and cost for compliance options against the desire for a predictability.  The OEB is of the view that requiring more than annual reviews at this stage is not warranted, given the newness of the cap and trade program and, in particular, thee fact that for the initial year the program will be an Ontario-only market."

And if you flip to page 33 of the same document, second paragraph on that page, the Board leaves the door open to change the frequency of the review and disposition.

The second-last sentence in that paragraph states:

"The OEB acknowledges the potential for large deferral account balances in relation to the customer-related obligation costs and will, if necessarily, examine more frequent recalibrations and true-up in the regulatory framework review process.  This does not preclude the utilities or the OEB from determining based on particular circumstances that the more frequent review of the rates is needed."

So therefore, you can see that our outline approach is in alignment with regulatory cap and trade framework, and furthermore, in the opening comments we said that we will be reporting to the Board if something unusual happens and the price of allowances escalates by more than 25 percent or if the volumes change by more than 25 percent up and down.

So to go back to our response, given that the Board has decided for the annual review and true-up, if we clear this balance, as we do for other accounts that are reviewed annually, then the process would be to use actual customer consumption from the prior year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the reason I asked for the materiality is, as I understand your warning to the Board, trigger is 25 percent difference between actuals and forecast; do I understand that correctly?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, you do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understood from your response to one of my questions about the difference between the settlement price and the assumed price was about $8 million total; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's about a 2 percent difference, 18 -- I forget the number -- but 1,808, I believe, and 1,770.  So 25 percent is on an aggregate basis quite a significant number; correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So why is 25 percent the appropriate number?

MR. KACICNIK:  Obviously that's a proposal at this time, and 25 percent trigger was chosen because it mimics the trigger that is in place for gas supply charges on the quarterly rate adjustment mechanism part of the equation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So you used the QRAM trigger.

MR. KACICNIK:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to page 9 of the compendium.  So this is from the Board's framework.  section 5.31, page 9 of the compendium.

And under 5.31 the Board talks about how it is going to assess the cost-effectiveness and optimization, and it says:

"Inherent in the OEB's review of cost-effectiveness and reasonableness in an assessment of whether the compliance plans reflect optimized decision-making, this includes a consideration of diversity of compliance options to a risk mitigation; whether a utility has approached its compliance strategy in an integrated manner that extracts maximum value from the commitments that integrate multiple benefits; and whether a utility has demonstrated flexibility to adapt to changes.  The OEB believes that assessing the utilities' plans through this lens will lead to a cost-effectiveness and greater rate predictability and will result in costs and risks to customers."

I just want to talk about a couple of those things briefly with you, the first being consideration of a diversity of compliance options; do you see that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just so I understand -- and we talked about this before -- your actual plan of what those compliance -- your utilization of various compliance options is strictly confidential; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think my answer was it would be a case-by-case basis, but within the financial mechanism portion of it would be definitely strictly confidential.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the second is risk mitigation, and I understand the analysis of the risks are strictly confidential in this proceeding.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's fair to say that most of those risks are -- we have outlined, for example, a risk to make sure we haven't double-billed a customer, where we put a declaration form in place to do some of those double-checks.  So there are a number of different types of risks.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the next one is with whether a utility has approached its compliance strategy in an integrated manner and extracts maximum value for commitments that integrate multiple benefits.

First, I'll ask you: how does Enbridge interpret that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think as we look to the longer term, I think it's going to evolve firstly.  But, you know, when we look at things like asset planning, making sure that we have included a carbon price into that asset planning would be then leveraging those existing benefits that you see with additional -- ensuring the maximum value is extracted by ensuring that carbon pricing is included.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's more of a long-term thing there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the third one is whether a utility has demonstrated flexibility to adapt to changes.

I take it that we can only -- we need some experience and we can only look at this -- you need some experience doing something before we can determine if you've demonstrated the flexibility to adapt to change.  That one may be premature for today.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, you know, I think you're right; I think it is a little bit premature.  But I would say that our plan that is filed does demonstrate flexibility in a number of ways.  Unfortunately, some of those are under confidential cover, but certainly we did today put on the record ways in which we hope that our ad hoc or our additional reporting does provide some additional flexibility and recognition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you could turn to page 19 of the compendium, this is your response to SEC number 2.

As I understand it, you've made no changes to the 2017 approved volumes to reflect the impact on cap and trade, correct?  Part (a) is telling us.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is correct for the case of 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding from your stakeholder days, the analysis is in the works for what type of adjustment would need to be made for 2018 and so on, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.  Some thinking was put forward about how cap and trade, with respect to forecast, may be considered.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to tell us, at this point -- maybe you can or you can't.  You recognize in part (b) that there is an inverse relationship.  Is the expectation then there will be some impact on the 2017 volumes based on cap and trade, we will see some reduction in volumes?

MS. MURPHY:  I think we recognize that there could be an impact from cap and trade, but it is certainly only one aspect of why our customers may decrease or increase their gas use as well, such as weather.  Their gas cost would be down, perhaps because it's been a bit warmer.  So in that case, the impact of cap and trade might not have had much of an impact; it might be more due to weather.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take that as a materiality issue.  It may not be a big change, but is the expectation that there will be some -- we don't know what it will be, but there is going to be some impact on 2017 volumes based on the impact of cap and trade?

MS. MURPHY:  I think that's the intent of the cap and trade program and why the government is putting fees on natural gas and other fuels; it’s to hopefully lower consumption.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 4 of the compendium.  As I understand it, one of the approvals you are seeking is for administration costs, correct?  Do I understand that correctly?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We have that page up in front of us now.  I apologize.  What was your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that one of the things that you are seeking approval for in this application is the forecasted administration fees for 2017?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We're not seeking approval at this time of those administration costs.  We are seeking an assessment that they're reasonable.

We understand that when they would be cleared, that's when a determination would be made.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I think you are getting to -- my misunderstanding.

Can you expense explain to me what the difference is between seeking the Board's view on the reasonableness versus seeking some sort of approval for them?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  At this time in cap and trade, we do not have a lot of experience.  It is a nascent market.

As such, we have done our best to forecast costs which are reasonable.  On that basis, it is difficult to ask for approval and so that was the purpose of the deferral account is to recognize that those costs would need clearance, approval for clearance at a later time.

I think at this point, we are looking to the Board to assess whether our overall plan and the methodologies and the processes by which we've undertaken our decision-making is appropriate, so that if we follow that plan, our costs would be deemed prudent at the back end.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Your approach is with a deferral account and then after-the-fact, there will be a disposition of that and a determination on the prudence.

Why is it not appropriate for the Board just to approve an amount and the risk is yours, the forecast risk is yours?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  At this point, Enbridge has done its best to forecast costs.  We don't have historical data on which to go.  We are seeing more layers unfold as time goes by for cap and trade, and so best efforts were made to forecast costs that we thought were appropriate.  But in fairness to ratepayers, it seems that at that point it should be trued up at the end of the year.  Costs may be higher or lower.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I see from this page you are planning -- your forecast is $115,000 for customer education and customer education outreach, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I believe there was something like $46,000 spent in 2016 on the same thing?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check, that sounds about right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you were doing your education outreach, did you ask your customers, considering you are essentially managing their compliance obligations for them, how they would like to have their obligations managed, what type of risk tolerance they may think is appropriate and so on?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In developing the OEB's framework, the OEB Staff did put out a paper and 40 -- as I understand it, I think more than 40 stakeholders, subject to check, responded and provided input into that framework.

I will take to you a specific passage, which does give you some sense of where those 40 stakeholders were going, and that is the framework section 5.32, page 26.  It states there -- I’m waiting for it to come up on the screen.
"All stakeholders that commented on this issue, including the utilities, were concerned with the utility undertaking hedging activities at this time.  Stakeholders cited an earlier OEB decision with respect to gas supply in which the OEB decided that costs for such activities would not be allowed for recovery in rates."

So although this is a different market, certainly those comments were derived for cap and trade based on what was known at the time.  And this really gives us a good insight as to where the risk tolerance was from stakeholders.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you didn't ask your customers -- so I take it first that you relied on essentially the OEB process to determine in your view how the customers...


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That was one input into our thinking.  We've had a bevy of engagements and interactions with customers, customer groups, over the course of the past year to -- on the many issues around cap and trade to speak with our customers.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there was no formal process to determine if they think more offs -- you should be one of
-- a better way to get -- or their view, they would like to see you utilizing more offsets versus other holding allowances or more abatement activities, et cetera.  There was no formal process.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think we did -- so what was interesting to us is, we undertook some formalized research.  We went out to customers through focus groups and online survey, and what became clear was that customers had trouble even understanding some of the fundamentals or the basics of the issue of climate change, let alone cap and trade.


So I think it's fair to say that although we had a number of interactions the only piece with at the time more educated people around the cap and trade issue, in particular, were sought through the OEB framework development, speaking to our customers provided us various levels of insights, and certainly, in many respects, the basics were really what we needed to speak with our customers about.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could turn to page 28 of the compendium.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, just a time check for  a break.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is my last --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- IR to ask about.


If we could turn to page 28, you were asked about potential conflicts of interest and specifically if there are any affiliates that were registered, participants and so on.


Am I correct -- well, I guess it's correct that you may not have my market participants.  You do have affiliates who are  participants in the cap and trade program; correct?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so can you just briefly discuss how you are ensuring that you are protecting ratepayers where you do have various affiliates involved in the cap and trade program?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So there's a couple of things that this first time around -- certainly it was e-mails to people at those various organizations, and we recognize that a more formal process shall be in place moving forward, but there is the backstop mechanism that -- a couple of things, that they would have to apply should they want to particip -- should anybody want to participate.


The notion is that people apply for any given auction, and they would be going through to get financial assurance, so we would know at that point, so there are some several backstop mechanisms within the organization to ensure we would know if one of our affiliates decided to participate in the market.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I'm not exactly clear.  The fact that they may have to register, how -- it is essentially you will then notice on some publicly disclosed document that says who are all the registered entities that you will have an affiliate?  That's...


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's just the backstop mechanism, but we have and will continue to make sure that we are aware on a regular basis of any of our affiliates that are participating in the market.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there an Enbridge Inc., the parent company, corporate policy, or is one in development with respect to ensuring that there is no conflict of interest with respect to the cap and trade program?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Certainly we have -- I can't speak to whether there is an EI document of that nature, but we do have a risk policy which, you know, does capture some of those elements.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.


We will take our morning break at this point.  11:05.  Let's return at 11:25.  Thank you.

--- Recess at 11:07 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:29 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  I have IGUA up next.  Ms. Van Soelen?

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Thank you.  I have made a compendium available to the witnesses, to the other intervenors by way of email, and then Board Staff has copies for the Panel.

I would like to ask this compendium be marked as the next exhibit in this the proceeding.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  It will be K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  IGUA CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR EGDI PANEL 1


MS. VAN SOELEN:  As a administrative matter, there are two pieces of paper that have been slip-sheeted in the back of the compendium.  I apologize for that; they didn't make it in.  So there are two loose pages that should be part of your compendium.

Ms. Oliver-Glasford -- am I saying your name correctly?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, you are.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Van Soelen:


MS. VAN SOELEN:  Excellent.  Thank you.

You mentioned this morning that Enbridge was cognizant of the Board's guiding principles set out in the framework as it developed its compliance plan, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is correct.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  If you turn in the compendium to page 3, that's found in tab 1.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, I was looking at the bottom.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Sorry, at the top.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm with you now.  Thank you.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  One of those guiding principles is transparency.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And I heard you mention this morning that there is a balance to be struck between caution in the treatment of confidential information and transparency.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, one that is necessary to protect the efficacy of the market, and ensure that ratepayers aren't unduly harmed from those wishing to arbitrage opportunities.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I think I also heard you explain this morning that given the nascence or the newness of the Ontario cap and trade market and the lack of familiarity with that market, a more cautious approach to the treatment of confidential information is appropriate at this time; is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, and the Board as well has, in its framework, outlined that confidentiality requirement as well, section 4, page 9, where they outline:

"The OEB believes that in the early stages of the market's development, the appropriate approach must not only comply with the Climate Change Act and associated regulations, it should also be cautious and have regard to market integrity in order to protect customers from undue costs while still making appropriate information publicly available where possible."

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And I take it Enbridge agrees with those statements in the Board's framework?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, we do.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So is it Enbridge's position then or expectation that over time, as more compliance plans are filed and we gain more experience with this market, the volume of information that is completely redacted and identified as strictly confidential will decrease?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Again, given the newness of the market, it is difficult to predict or make a prediction on what will or will not be appropriate.  From our perspective, obviously it is for the Board to decide, but what might be confidential, you know, either market auction or otherwise.  Certainly there are some things that, as we look at them, there may be more confidentiality elements, but there may also be less.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So, let me ask then, because I'm trying to understand how it is that the newness of the market and lack of familiarity affected any determinations you made with respect to confidentiality in this particular filing.  So could you explain that for me?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In looking at and understanding what might be confidential, we did start with a scan of the jurisdictions that do have cap and trade to try and understand what was appropriately on the record in those jurisdictions.

We took that as a starting point.  We, you know, we -- as we understood there was more pieces or different pieces which we deemed to be confidential because we believed that they did either indicate or give rise to an understanding of what our strategy may be.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Can you identify what those more pieces are that you refer to?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think when we look at, for example, even how we set a proxy price, for example, understanding which price could be put on the public record in a way so as not to be misleading, or tell anything in particular about a strategy, or our thoughts on where the market would go.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We have people on the line and we're hearing background noise.

If it's possible, if you could mute your line or ensure that there are no background noise interfering that we’re picking up on the microphone.  Thank you.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I'm quite glad that you raised the issue of price in your answer to that question.

I'd like to draw your attention to the compendium and the two loose sheets that have been slip-sheeted in the back.  For those who are following along based on evidentiary references, the references are Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1, page 7.

And this is the section of your evidence that talks about a discussion on the appropriate price for rate-setting, correct?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  That's correct.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  As we look through the section of this evidence, with the exception of paragraph 29, everything else has been redacted?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  That's correct.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  What was the basis for this redaction?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  We believed that it contained confidential information.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  What kind of confidential information?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Van Soelen, if I could just ask -- the Board has accepted the record and the redactions that have occurred.  Is this by means of understanding what might change over time, or is this a challenge to that determination?

MS. VAN SOELEN:  It is not a challenge to that determination. I expect that our submissions -- there will be submissions made at the end of the day as to the difficulty that intervenors have had in meaningfully reviewing various aspects and addressing various aspects of the compliance plan.  These questions will go toward that submission.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. O'Leary, do you have any comment on that?

MS. OLIVER:  Mr. Chair, you have already made a determination as to the standard redactions.  It becomes very difficult, I would believe, for the witness to try indicate, without crossing the line into the very confidential evidence that has been redacted, the nature of that evidence.

So it's a very difficult question to answer without falling into that territory.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand the challenge of addressing it.  But on a higher level, I think the struggle that I attempted to articulate earlier is what determinations we’d be making, Ms. Van Soelen.  And if there are arguments on the degree of confidentiality and the difficulty that the framework is causing intervenors to meaningfully, as you put it, you know, basically, you know, exercise any kind of discovery and hoping for transparency, and after-the-fact determination based on arguments is going to be difficult to address.

I don't think we would be in a position to make determinations on that.  The framework is what it is.  I think if there's -- the Board in its framework has articulated a view that this is early days, and caution is required, and I think that that is something that the Board has opined on in its framework and its policy.

I think looking for submissions, counter-submissions to your argument from the applicants as to whether or not they agree with that or not or whether or not something else should happen I'm not sure is going to be a lot of use.  I wouldn't spend a lot of time there, I guess is what I'm getting at.  It's not something that I think that would be all that helpful to the Panel.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  That's fine.  I will leave this area and turn to another area.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I have a series of questions prepared with respect to the administrative costs that are presented in the application.

The extent to which I ask these costs can -- or ask these questions can be limited with a better understanding of exactly what it is Enbridge is seeking approval for in this application.

Mr. Rubenstein asked some questions earlier about what it is that Enbridge is seeking with respect to costs that are now charged to the greenhouse gas emissions impact deferral account and other deferral account -- the other deferral account to be established in this proceeding.



So perhaps I'll ask for clarity.  Enbridge has incurred administrative costs throughout 2016; correct?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  That's correct.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And you've presented evidence on the nature of those costs in your application.  Are you seeking any determination from the Board as to the reasonableness or prudence of those costs in this application?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  We are seeking a prudence test, but we are not seeking to clear the costs through this application.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And that's with respect to your 2016 administrative costs already incurred and your forecast 2017 administrative costs; is that so?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is correct.  We are looking for an assessment of reasonableness.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  In light of that we will then turn in the compendium to page 8, please.  In paragraph 7 you say that:

"Enbridge seeks to be as transparent as possible in identifying incremental cap and trade costs in this exhibit."

That to me suggests the there was some hindrance or limit on the degree to which you could be transparent; is that a fair reading of this evidence?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, I think it was just a poor choice of words.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay, so this evidence then does disclose fully the nature of the costs, 2016 administrative costs, that Enbridge has incurred and counted against the greenhouse gas emissions impact deferral account?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, it fully captures the cost for 2016.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And unfortunately this page is not in my compendium, but at Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 6, page 1, Enbridge identifies a list of the administrative costs it has incurred.  And you will see that is found in paragraph 1.

This is a similar question.  The list is identified as "including".  I therefore take it that it's not exhaustive, and so my question is whether there are any additional categories that haven't been disclosed in the application?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  In that same exhibit, Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 6, page 7, table 1, we list the 2016 forecasted administration cost.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  For ease of everyone, you can turn that up in the compendium on page 13 as well.

Is that then a complete list of the 2016 cost elements and amounts incurred?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Yes, that is.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And these amounts are identified as forecasted amounts.  Do you have updated numbers available at this time?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Yes, we do have updated numbers.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay, and what are the updated numbers?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  In total, it is roughly 1.5.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  You don't have those broken down, I gather.

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Sorry, it is 1.5 million in total, and we do have them broken down.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay, and is that in the evidence?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  That is not.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Can you provide a copy of this chart, updated to reflect the actuals?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We'll mark that Undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE CHART AT PAGE 13 UPDATED TO REFLECT THE ACTUALS.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I'd like to go now in the compendium, please, to page 8, and paragraph 6:

"Enbridge has identified a criterion that all costs included in this deferral account be incremental to the company's current business and required for purposes of meeting cap and trade requirements."

How is that criterion applied or implemented at Enbridge?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  There is a response to this in Interrogatory Staff 1, found at Exhibit I, 1 EGDI Staff 1.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Uh-hmm.

MR. LANGSTAFF:  It says:

"Any costs incurred within the CIR's budget for work that was completed by the company prior to the planning and implementation of a cap and trade program are not deemed as incremental cap and trade costs and will not be included in the cap and trade administrative costs sought for relief through the GGEIDA."

Anything that was included in the customized incentive regulation is not considered incremental to cap and trade.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

I'd like to go now to page 14 of the compendium.  And this is getting into forecast costs for 2017.  In paragraph 23 it's noted that:

"Additional IT system changes may be required in 2017, but that the extent of the costs for those changes is unknown."

Do you know the nature of those additional changes?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Those changes could be related to internal tracking systems or potential billing system changes, should they be required.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  You say could be.  Do you know that those are the additional changes that you are referring to here, or are you speculating?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  We know there are changes required for our internal tracking system.  With regards to the billing system, we are unsure at this time.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I'd like to go now to page 15 of the record.  At paragraph 27, Enbridge presents information about implementation, market intelligence, and consulting support.  The anticipated future costs are $561,000.

Do you know how those costs are broken down into the various components, being implementation, market intelligence and consulting support?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Yes, we do.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  What's the breakdown of those costs?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Those costs are broken down in Exhibit I 1.EGDI.Staff.7.

So Staff-7 IR.

You can see there is a table there that does set out the detailed amounts within the $561,000 forecasted for implementation, market intelligence, and consulting support.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Is this breakdown roughly consistent with what the breakdown was for 2016 in these various categories?  By that, I mean on a percentage basis, are the costs that you incurred for each of the sub categories roughly the same for year to year?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In looking at them, yes, they do seem to be relatively in line with costs from 2016, noting that we have added an element of implementation into these costs.  And so that one would be different, given we didn't have that aspect in 2016.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I'd like to go to page 20 of the compendium, please.  There you note at paragraph 31 that:
"The Ontario cap and trade market is complex, requiring participants to stay abreast of the many informational inputs that impact the demand/supply dynamics.  Enbridge will monitor the WCI market, as well as all the changes proposed."

Are the costs associated with doing that administrative costs and part of the implementation, market intelligence and consulting support costs that we just looked at?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that is correct, as well as the resources of the FTEs to do so.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And these are costs  that you would expect any participant in the cap and trade market to incur, correct, so long as they’re behaving reasonably?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Presumably, yes.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So an LFE who is participating in the cap and trade market would, if acting reasonably, incur these types of costs as well?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I don't know for sure, but certainly it seems reasonable.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I'd like to turn now to the compendium at page 38.

This was an IGUA interrogatory asking about the proposal to establish a single deferral and variance account that is going to allow for recovery or credit of any difference between the actual customer and facility-related obligation costs incurred by Enbridge in 2017.

You're familiar, of course, with Union's application and the fact that they proposed two separate deferral and variance accounts, one in respect of facility-related obligations and another in respect of customer-related obligations?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, we are.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Did you consider whether it would be appropriate for Enbridge to likewise establish two separate accounts for these two different purposes?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, we did consider that.  At the end, we determined that having a single variance account was the preferred way for Enbridge to go.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  On what basis was it the preferred way?

MR. KACICNIK:  Well, the reasons are stated in this interrogatory response to IGUA number 6 at Exhibit I for EGDI IGUA 6.

If you look at that response, you will see that the Board stated in their cap and trade regulatory framework that the utilities will be indifferent whether they will be buying emission allowances for customer-related or facility-related obligations.  And we agree with that statement, because we will need to cover total actual emissions obligations.

So when we go out and we purchase those, we will not be purchasing separately for customer-related or facility-related.  We will just purchase what is needed to meet our overall actual emission obligations.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  And I see from your answer that you propose to apportion the total account balance, once it's known, between
customer-related and facility-related obligations, and you explain in the last paragraph how you propose to undertake that apportionment.

Are there any steps other than or beyond what you've indicated here in that last answer to interrogatory?

MR. KACICNIK:  No, they are not, except to say that apportionment of the account balance between customer and facility-related is aligned with the Board's cap and trade regulatory framework.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  At the time that this account is brought forward to be cleared, will Enbridge put on the record information that will identify how those costs have been apportioned between customer-related and facility-related obligations?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, certainly.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  I'd like to go to the compendium now, within tab 2, page 28, and I will be asking some questions about the unit rates for the large final emitter class.

In looking down the list, it is apparent that the more typical rate is 0.0337 cents per metre cubed, but that there are certain rate classes who are paying a lesser amount. And you have answered in an interrogatory response why certain of these rate classes have different amounts, but not all of them.

So my question will be with respect to all of them.  So, if you can keep one hand open to this page 28 and then with your other hand, if you can open up -- it’s page 43 of the compendium.

You have explained in the middle paragraph, the third paragraph down:

"For example, the company does not provide any compression services to rate 125, rate 300, rate 331, or rate 332, so those customers are not charged for compressor fuel in their rates and are not charged for compressor fuel in facility-related cap and trade charges."

But if you look at page 28, there are other rate classes who are paying different amounts, and if you could explain to me on what basis they are paying different amounts I would appreciate it.  That's the question.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, certainly.  For the benefit of the Panel I would like to provide some background as to why we went this route.

In the Board's cap and trade regulatory framework, the Board directed that all facility-related emission costs be recovered from all customers and customer-related costs be recovered from non-large final emitters.

Cost causality on customer-related emissions is very straightforward.  You consume gas at the burner tip, there is emissions, so cost causality is very straightforward and clear.

When it comes to customer-related emissions, there are different costs that are not imposed on the system by all customer classes.  For example, rate 125 customers, they receive unbundled distribution service, and therefore they are not using our storage service.  It is storage facilities that are using compressor fuel, so those customers are not imposing compressor-related costs on to the system, and when we design our rates, we don't recover those costs through rate 125 rates, and we mimic that cost causality in the design of facility-related costs as well.  That's why you see different unit rates for different customer classes.

So in other words, what we are really doing is we are enhancing cost causality on facility-related portion of emission costs.  It is not something that the Board stated in their cap and trade network, but at Enbridge we design our base rates in that way.  That's why we are able to readily reflect that cost causality and facility-related costs as well for cap and trade charges.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  So if we take rate 315 as an example, and if you need further detail on rate 315, you can find it in the pages that follow.  It is on page 32.  Perhaps you can explain why Enbridge has calculated the unit rate in the way that it has or proposes the particular unit rate that it has.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, rate 315 is an unbundled storage service that is a companion service to rate 125 or rate 300.  Those are both unbundled services and customers.  If they choose so they can contract for rate 315 as well.

So rate 315 is a storage service.  If you look at cost causality, what kind of costs does unbundled storage service impose on cap and trade cost?  It's storage compressor fuel.  And when it comes to unaccounted-for gas and company-use gas, that the customer would pay for those charges through rate 300, for example.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And those are all of my questions.

MR. KACICNIK:  So all components are covered, but there is no overlap.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Van Soelen.

We have CME up next, Mr. Pollock.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Pollock:

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you.  And good afternoon, Panel.

So I just wanted to start with some clarification on a couple of interrogatories, which I think we can bring up.  But I'd like too start with CME Interrogatory No. 2, if we could, issue number 1.  So I just bring this up because it was something that you guys were talking about in the previous cross-examination, and I was just a little bit confused.

So we asked you specifically about future billing changes for your IT system, and as I understand your response you didn't, at that time anyway, anticipate additional IT billing system upgrades or changes; is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.  That is correct.  It was specific to billing system changes.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So that may lead me to my next question, which is, what is the difference between that and what you were talking about earlier, in terms of what the IT system will need going-forward?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  The IT systems that we are referring to earlier were for internal use for tracking or procurement.

MR. POLLOCK:  I see.  So those will likely need some unspecified changes in the future, but just not the billing part will not need future changes?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Again, we're unsure if there will be billing changes, provided further direction.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, thank you.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, I just want to be clear on that point.  We are not anticipating that we need to change how our bill is presented, but it is simply a placeholder should we be required by the regulator or by the act to change how we are billing and presenting to customers.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And if we could turn to CME number 1, Interrogatory No.1, please.

So in this interrogatory we were asking you about the additional employees that you project that you will need and the, I guess, part-time work or the work that's going to be given to existing employees rather than to new employees.

And I just had a couple of questions with the process by which you came to that number, because you mentioned that the additional work is estimated at two to three full-time employees; is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So just this IR really seeks to provide clarity on what the company is absorbing in terms of a productivity gain, if you will, but we are not looking to claim those.

MR. POLLOCK:  Right.  I guess just in terms of the process that you went through to get to your administrative costs, how did you come to two to three full-time employees as the level that you are absorbing?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Based on the number of people within the organization that have played a role in ensuring the successful implementation of cap and trade, we have been monitoring and asking for informal documentation of the amount of hours that they have been spending, so it wasn't a formalized -- in a system somewhere, but we did ask folks to keep track so that we had a sense of how much time was being invested in cap and trade.

MR. POLLOCK:  And how many employees was the spread over?  So how many employees were doing work on this that added up to two or three full-time employees?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Probably a dozen or so key people, maybe, and then a number of others that would touch it on a very minimal basis.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  And in terms of -- if this were to ever become sort of the future productivity, would you continue to keep track of how much they actually spent on cap and trade or would you just take the two or three estimate and just port it forward?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think today we are certainly focused on your 2017 compliance plan.  I don't know how things will be treated by the company in the next incentive regulation application.

MR. POLLOCK:  And I guess in terms of how you decided to apportion work rather than -- rather than to give it to new full-time employees, how is that process -- how did that decision get made?

MS. MURPHY:  So with respect to that two or three FTEs cumulative, you can appreciate that cap and trade touches many departments, for example legal, finance and IT.

So in many cases, people are putting in, you know, a few hours here and there and that's rolled up to that larger number.  Where people wouldn't be dedicating, you know, it's on a full-time role or not dedicating a good portion of their time to cap and trade, then the work was just incremental to their existing workload.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Just to add on to Ms. Murphy's comments, you are asking specifically about the subject matter areas?

MR. POLLOCK:  Just what you went through to determine that.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Certainly we looked to see what work people were doing already and what fit.  We wouldn't have hired a full-time additional lawyer if there was someone who could spend a few hours, or provide insights based on their expertise.

MR. POLLOCK:  I guess that sort of leads me into -- when you are choosing who to do these sort of little tasks, or these smaller non-full-time tasks, it seems if there was 12 or so people who had a regular hand in this, and there is two to three full-time employees, that on a high end would be about 25 percent of a full-time employee per hand?

I just wondered if ,when you were apportioning it, did you choose people who didn't have enough to do, or who was closest to the subject matter.  How was it done?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No consideration was given to someone not being busy.  I think it's fair to say that we've all worked more than the average working week.  So I think it was just who was doing an activity that was similar that it could be added on, tacked on if you will, for incremental time.

And again, when I said 12, those were key people.
There were a number of people that were touching this file.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay, thank you.  And I wonder if we could turn up Board Interrogatory No.7.  I was looking for a quick clarification of this because in part (b) of your answer, you are talking about the marginal abatement cost curve and you answered that you didn't really know at the start how it was -- how the process was going to go.  So you have not undertaken or completed an internal cost curve, is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.

MR. POLLOCK:  If we go up one or two ticks on this page, there is a line that has $150,000 for ongoing cap and trade regulation support, inclusive of the marginal abatement cost curve.  I just wanted to clarify.  Is any of that $150,000 actually used on the cost curve, or did it get cancelled sort of in its nascent stages?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  This was a 2017 forecast put forward.  We have not done any work on creating a marginal abatement cost curve to date.

Certainly we are pleased to be a part of the development of the marginal abatement cost curve on the work on the technical advisory group, and I think it really will depend on the outcomes of that study.  And if it's deemed that there are specific reasons why a region would require its own marginal abatement cost curve, that makes it significantly different from a standard one.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So up to this point, zero has been done on this subject?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you.  I would like to, if I could, just put on my CME hat for a moment.  I believe I sent to our screen operator two tables, and one of them was an Enbridge table that you gave as an interrogatory response to CME number 7.

It is not necessary to turn up the interrogatory, but some of the members of CME are concerned about the significant impact that cap and trade will have on them and I was just looking for some clarity.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Can you provide the IR that you are referring to?

MR. POLLOK:  Yes, CME number 7.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Which issue number?

MR. POLLOCK:  I believe that would be issue number 5 -- 5.2, if it helps.

In your response, you pointed us to Enbridge's January 2017 QRAM.  I believe that we have the table from that, if we could bring it up on the screen.  It just wasn’t obvious to me -- the other table.  This was Union’s, I think.

Perhaps while we're here, I can point out -- so Union's has a line item called "total bill".  Do you see that?  It’s the third line item in any of the rate classes.

I was wondering -- in your own table, it wasn't so obvious to me where the total bill impact was.  I was just wondering if you could help me find that and understand this table a little better.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, certainly.  The table we are looking at is the total billing that’s for non-large final emitters, meaning that those are customers for whom Enbridge will procure emission allowances.

The total bill impacts are shown at item number 1.6, where it says "total sales."

MR. POLLOCK:  Right, total sales.

MR. KACICNIK:  For example, if you look at the very first table there on the top left corner, for that customer, the total bill for January 1, 2017, QRAM would be $1,139.03.

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you.  I want to ask about BOMA's Interrogatory No.3, because I think many of the intervenors have questions about the actual mechanics of this.

It is asking you about whether you are looking for -- what it is that you are looking for in this proceeding, whether it's an advanced ruling, as it's called in the interrogatory.

You answered that you want to determine the reasonableness of the cap and trade plan, but you also add that if you would execute according to the plan, there is no basis to deny the clearance of any amount recorded in the accounts, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That would be correct.



MR. POLLOCK:  So I just want to go over a situation, because I am struck by the term "no basis to deny the amount recorded."

If you were to execute the same plan in different circumstances, that could mean the difference between it being reasonable and not reasonable, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I guess so, yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  I’ll give you an example, if helps.  If I were to want to go and buy a vacuum cleaner for $100, that might be reasonable.  But if I am going to the store and I see my neighbour who offers to sell me a brand new one, still in the package for $30, going out to the store and buying it for a hundred may no longer be reasonable.

Is that fair as an example?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So you have a plan now, and you are asking the Board to find it reasonable.  If circumstances were to change between now and then, even if the Board said it was reasonable now, couldn't it be the fact that there could be a basis to deny recovery in the actual disposition of the account?

MS. MURPHY:  I think certainly the Board would review your costs in light of the market situation throughout the year.  But we have built a plan that we believe is flexible and would respond to different changes in the market or if, you know, there is -- certain instruments become available, you know, we might evaluate those.

So perhaps the statement is not quite correct.  I guess in light of changing circumstances it would be reasonable for the Board to consider those changing circumstances and then view our plan and how we've reacted to them.

MR. POLLOCK:  So is what you're looking for more akin to like a letter of comfort, like something that isn't really binding on the Board in terms of, you know, they're held to it being reasonable?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's up to the Board to opine on where they feel comfortable landing in terms of a decision, but certainly I know the compliance plan has been put forward and does include the many guiding principles which do respond or address changes to the marketplace, and so the hope is that the Board does find our plan reasonable and prudent for the 2017 year, given what we know at this point.

MR. POLLOCK:  I guess I will go one last interrogatory.  Can we go to CCC number 4, please.  I won't go over all of these risks, but essentially you were asked who bears the risks in these bullet-pointed risks.  And as I understand your answer, it was the ratepayers; is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  cap and trade has been required as a statutory obligation of Enbridge.  And so, you know, we are undertaking to meet our obligation on this program.

MR. POLLOCK:  In terms of whether it is on the ratepayers?  Is that a yes?  Feel free to opine after, but...

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  At this point the risks have been identified and the plan seeks to mitigate those risks as much as possible.  Certainly we cannot mitigate all risks, and so that would be a shared obligation of the organization with -- so, like, of all the ratepayers.  It is of an obligation.

MR. POLLOCK:  So if something happened and one of these risks materialized, would Enbridge be out the cost or would the ratepayers?

MS. MURPHY:  In this list of risks, I think, for example, if you looked at volume variability, we are charging our customers based on their volumetric usage, so if it used more natural gas then we'd buy more allowances for them.  So volume variability and, you know, likewise, if they use less gas then we buy less allowances.

So volume variability definitely, as an example, is borne solely by the ratepayer.  It is not -- we are not buying based on forecast -- or we are not charging them, I should say, based on forecasts, we are charging them based on their actual usage.

With respect to the others, I think Enbridge has been tasks, as Ms. Oliver-Glasford said, with this compliance obligation.  We're the point of regulation for all, you know, gas users.  It wouldn't make sense for individual homeowners to be going out and capping and trading, buying allowances for their own emissions, so we've been tasked with this on behalf of our customers, so in, I believe, most of these cases it would be the customers that would share those risks, yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  I want to ask specifically about risk of data dissemination to market participants.  As I understand it, that is part of your strategy or part of your confidential information getting into the wrong hands, and that would be, I think -- the people who have that information would be mostly Enbridge employees; is that right?

MS. MURPHY:  That's correct.

MR. POLLOCK:  And s I understand it from the evidence, this is a pretty serious risk insofar as if you increase the cost -- the average cost of allowance that it increases the total cost paid by quite a bit; is that fair?

MS. MURPHY:  Ms. Oliver-Glasford might have something to add on this, but, yes, if the price of the allowances goes up it does add an increased cost.  It would depend how much higher the cost goes up as to the materiality of that impact on the customer.

MR. POLLOCK:  You can take it, I think, subject to check, but I seem to recall from the evidence that a penny increase in the average cost per allowance results in an annual total cost increase of $211,000.  Is that sort of in the neighbourhood?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check, yes, I recall that evidence.

MR. POLLOCK:  So is it your evidence then that if an Enbridge employee were to tell the wrong person about this and put Enbridge in a sub-optimal market position, that the ratepayer would bear that cost entirely?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Enbridge has taken this confidentiality-of-information issue extremely seriously.  So in the act it does outline company, as well as personal, fines for, you know, ensuring information is confidential, and so we've taken a number of steps at the company in order to ensure that people don't inadvertently or overtly share information that is not appropriate.

So first of all, we have our standard statement of business conduct which people have to sign to ensure they're not disclosing information about the company, that, you know, would impact the market, but we have also instituted a series of in-person training sessions, whereby we've identified and targeted those groups first that were touching the material and have gone throughout those folks that have been identified, so we've trained over 200 people within the organization on what the act says and what materials would be deemed confidential, which ones wouldn't, as well as identifying the penalties should they not abide.

So we've had that.  We have had e-mails from RVP -- of legal, to the entire organization, and we document on a regular basis, you know, or begin meetings even with other groups to remind them of the confidentiality of matters.

MR. POLLOCK:  So I take it that's, yes, the ratepayer would bear the cost of that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Oh, sorry, I thought you were asking what our steps were, but, yes, there are a number of risks, and, yes, those would be borne by the ratepayers.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  Thank you, those are all my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Pollock.

Mr. Vellone, what's your time estimate, having heard everyone else before you?

MR. VELLONE:  We forecast around 30 minutes.  But frankly, given the guidance you gave this morning, particularly on issue 4, I could probably chop that in half.  I don't know if you want me to go now or immediately after lunch?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Maybe, could you attempt to go now and try to wrap up in about 15?

MR. VELLONE:  Sure, yep.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Vellone:

MR. VELLONE:  Good afternoon, panel.  Just for introductions again -- there's a lot of people in the room -- my name is John Vellone, and I am counsel for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.  That is Enbridge customer rate class 125.

My questions this morning -- this afternoon now, are all around issue number 4.  That is the deferral and variance accounts and I was wondering -- I did circulate a compendium to help guide us through cross yesterday.  Do you have a copy of that with you?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes, we do.

MR. VELLONE:  Perhaps we could have get this marked as an exhibit.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  That will be K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4  APPrO CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR EGDI PANEL 1


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Perhaps to get us started, let's pull up page 8 of the APPRO compendium.

This is an excerpt of Enbridge's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No.24, which I believe you discussed earlier this morning with my colleague, Mr. Rubenstein.  Do you see that there in front of you?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, we do.

MR. VELLONE:  I guess what I'm looking for is clarity on what the company is seeking to decide in this proceeding versus what you’re potentially looking for a future panel to decide in a future disposition proceeding.

So the question is this: Is Enbridge seeking approval for a one-time adjustment to clear the customer and facility-related variance account in proceeding, or is Enbridge proposing that the disposition methodology is something that would be better determined by a subsequent panel in a disposition proceeding, once the amounts are actually known?

MR. KACICNIK:  As stated in the paragraph above the one that you highlighted, we say that the most suitable approach can be determined at the time of disposition.

So that means the best way for the Board to determine what the most suitable approach is when these accounts are brought forward for disposition, which would be by August 1st of each year, as part of the compliance filing for the following year.

MR. VELLONE:  That's helpful.  In addition to the customer and facility-related variance accounts, Enbridge also has an existing impact deferral account.  Are you proposing the same approach for that impact deferral account?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, we do.  Like that impact deferral account would be brought forward for disposition together with the variance account, as part of the compliance filing.  One exception could be the 2016 impact deferral account, which we state or we outline in the very first paragraph of the response to Board number 24.  We say that we may bring that one forward for disposition together with our other 2016 deferral and variance accounts.

MR. VELLONE:  But for clarity, that wouldn't be something that this Panel would decide.  It is a future panel, just maybe not the same one as the customer and facility-related variance account?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, precisely.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And I guess from my understanding, because I'm not sure whether Union's going to propose to dispose of these accounts now or later, I just want to explore why doing it later is an appropriate approach for this Panel.

And I guess from the APPRO perspective, the volatility of the amounts in these accounts is a fairly sensitive issue.

Would you say that's a good reason why the Board Panel should wait until actual amounts are known and deal with this later?

MR. KACICNIK:  I'm not sure if I caught the entire question.  Can you repeat it, please?

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  We don't know how much are in these accounts.  I'll break it down.  I'll try to break it down into subsets.

At the time you submitted your application, Ontario's cap and trade program was new and untested; is that a fair statement?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that is fair.

MR. VELLONE:  And the market for allowances was in its infancy and not really liquid; is that fair?

MR. KACICNIK:  Well, it's only the Ontario market for 2017.  We are just trading within Ontario.

MR. VELLONE:  So it was new.  You didn't know about a lot about it at the time that you submitted the application; is that fair?

MR. KACICNIK:  That would be fair, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And as a result, your focus has remained primarily on compliance and overall prudence in this application.  Would you say that’s correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's fair to say that that our primary objective is compliance, correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And we know the actual auction prices are not yet known, we know the actual volumes are not yet known, and Enbridge doesn't necessarily have full control over these cap and trade costs, which makes it a little bit different than some of your other operating costs; is that fair to say?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. VELLONE:  Would it be fair to say that you face a somewhat similar situation on the gas commodity side, where you don't actually know what market prices are going to be and you don't know what actual volumes are going to be?

MR. KACICNIK:  I think that analogy is fair as well.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  So from a customer perspective, when we look at these different factors, the program -- the cap and trade program's new and untested, the market is in its infancy and hasn't really been tested yet, and these are costs over which Enbridge doesn't necessarily have full control, would you agree that those are all factors that could lead to potentially high levels of volatility of costs in these accounts?

MR. KACICNIK:  I think I would agree.  However, I am not sure how much volatility we will see.  In 2017, we are trading within Ontario, so it is hard to say what the volatility may look like.

MR. VELLONE:  Has Enbridge attempted to perform an analysis, or quantify the potential volatility in these accounts?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. KACICNIK:  Enbridge has performed some sensitivity analyses and provided those as part of its submission in the framework proceeding.

We evaluated the sensitivity due to the price change of allowances, and then the second one was looking at the exchange rate only, if I recall properly. So we provided those.

However, the Board, at the end, has still decided to only go with the annual review.  And if I can take you to page 32 of the board's cap and trade regulatory framework, item 6.2.1.

MR. VELLONE:  That's page 3 of the APPRO compendium, if you want to keep it up on the screen.

MR. KACICNIK:  If you can go to the very bottom of that page:
"The OEB is of the view that requiring more than annual reviews at this stage is not warranted, given the newness of the cap and trade program and in particular the fact that for the initial year, the program will be an Ontario only market."

MR. VELLONE:  I see that.  Thank you. Perhaps it might be helpful -- you said you did a sensitivity analysis in the framework proceeding.  Is that on the evidence in the record in this compliance plan proceeding?  I don't think it is, is it?

MR. KACICNIK:  I don't believe so.

MR. VELLONE:  Would Enbridge be willing to re-file it in this proceeding?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that analysis was filed on the public record, so it could be re-filed in this proceeding as well.

MR. VELLONE:  That would be helpful, if you could undertake to do so.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.3, and that's to file Enbridge's submission in the stakeholder consultation on the report of the Board, EB-2015-0363.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO FILE ENBRIDGE'S SUBMISSION IN THE STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION ON THE REPORT OF THE BOARD, EB-2015-0363.

MR. O'LEARY:  I'm not sure, Mr. Chair, the entire submission is being requested or just the sensitivity analysis.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sensitivity analysis within that --


MR. VELLONE:  Just the later, please.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Could you please flip forward to page 4 of the APPrO compendium.  I am conscious I have about four minutes left to stay in my time estimate.  And my question really relates to the sidebarred paragraph there.

You had a conversation this morning with my colleague Mr. Rubenstein about perspective versus retrospective basis.  I don't really want to get into that too much.  I am more interested in kind of the policy issue that the Board signalled with its statement here, and that is to avoid any market distortions.

Did Enbridge -- so Enbridge has a preferred disposition methodology of a one-time disposition; am I understanding correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  I wouldn't quite call it "preferred."  However, given that this is an annual clearance, should we clear the account balance in the same way as we clear account balances from other deferral variance accounts that are reviewed annually, then, yes, there would be a one-time clearance adjustment from customer's bill coming out of this.

MR. VELLONE:  So if it was a quarterly clearance you would suggest that it should be done in the same way that you do other quarterly accounts; is that -- my understanding of that correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Only gas costs are being updated quarterly and cleared quarterly.  All other deferral variance accounts are reviewed annually and cleared annually.

MR. VELLONE:  And with the gas costs, those are disposed of over a rolling 12-month period; is that correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yeah, that's correct, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Did Enbridge consider what market distortions might arise from a one-time clearance of these accounts?

MR. KACICNIK:  No, we have not.

MR. VELLONE:  Did Enbridge consult with its natural gas-fired generator customers on its, I guess -- preference isn't the right word -- for a one-time adjustment?

MR. KACICNIK:  No, we have not.

MR. VELLONE:  Is Enbridge aware that a one-time adjustment could undermine the ability of a gas-fired generator to bid its marginal costs into Ontario's electricity market?

MR. KACICNIK:  I am not aware of that.  Again, as stated in interrogatory responses, the best way to dispose of those balances is at a time when account balance is brought forward for disposition.  Then you can see the magnitude of timing, and if the magnitude is large and it could negatively impact gas-fired power generators, then you go with an approach that would prevent that.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm done.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.

We will take an hour for lunch break, return at 1:45.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:44 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:48 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We’ll start off this afternoon with TCPL, Ms. Jamieson.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Jamieson:


MS. JAMIESON:  Good afternoon, panel.  So I am Lisa Jamieson and I'm representing TransCanada.

I see that a lot of other intervenors had put together a compendium.  We actually only had one item that wasn't already part of the exhibits of this hearing, so we have just filed that and provided that to the Board yesterday.  The other ones are just exhibits that we also gave a list of, so they could pull them up quickly.

So the line of questioning that we would like to proceed with -- we just want to talk a little bit about rate 332, the relationship to flow estimates, and then how that kind of works out with the deferral accounts, the mechanics of the deferral account.

Would you mind bringing up TCL1?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, we have it.

MS. JAMIESON:  What we are looking for here was just if you could confirm a few things for us.

Could you confirm that the rate derived for the company use costs is the 0.0018 cents per MQ, and that that unit rate was derived using a zero flow rate for rate 332 Service?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. JAMIESON:  And what was the basis of using a zero for flow forecast for the rate 332 service?

MR. KACICNIK:  The volumes forecast for 2017 was developed in the spring of 2016.  At that time, rate 332 service was not yet available.  There was also some uncertainty whether or not it would be available, and when it would start.  It's a new service that we don't have much experience with, therefore we decided not to forecast any volume for that service.

Having said that, you will soon be contacted by an account executive looking after this account to develop a volumes forecast for rate 332 for 2018.

MS. JAMIESON:  For 2018, not for '17.  Okay, because I just wanted to discuss the volume, the 1200 TJs a day that TransCanada had contracted on that.  And just to confirm,  you know we are a shipper who had obtained that service?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, I'm aware of that.

MS. JAMIESON:  Moving to a bit more of the mechanics then of how the deferral account will work, the GGCEIFA.

Many people have already referred to it, but if you look at Board Staff 24, the response to that IR that was referred to in your response to TCPL 1.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, we have it.

MS. JAMIESON:  So page 2 of three, paragraph 5 where it starts with: "Following the current Board-approved methodology,” and then ending with the sentence, “The amount of creditor debit each customer would be allocated...,” that section there.

So what we would like to confirm and what's unclear in the response there is how we will be assured that a customer will be kept whole, as you've indicated in other IRs, in case there is a potential over contribution.

So you've established that you already have the flow forecast for rate 332, being zero for the rate 332 service,  but that it is probable that we will flow some now that the service has started.

Does the deferral account track individual company, and rate class cap and trade contributions?

MR. KACICNIK:  The variance account?

MS. JAMIESON:  Variance account.

MR. KACICNIK:  Will track actual costs incurred for emission allowances versus actual revenues procured from customers.  Then those will be apportioned between customer-related and facility-related, and facility-related will be further split, at least at Enbridge, between company use, compressor fuel, and unaccounted for gas.

MS. JAMIESON:  Will these deferral accounts track the individual company volumes, and then --


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, yes they will. Perhaps it would be best if I walk you through a simple example to illustrate how that will work.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay.

MR. KACICNIK:  For example, assume that the company used volumes emissions and on a forecasted basis, the cost of those emissions is $100,and we have 1,000 units of consumption that we are going to recover that over.  So the unit rate would be 10 cents per unit of volume.

So 1,000 units forecasted and now let's say that rate 332 volumes are about 20 percent of volume, but not forecasted.  So therefore our actual volumes would be 1,200 units.

For simplicity, let's assume that our company-used emissions have not changed and the actual price remained the same as the forecast price.  So the actual cost of emissions would therefore be $100, but my revenues would equal $120 because there would be 200 units that I collected 10 cents on that were not forecasted.

So my actual revenue will exceed my actual cost for company-use emissions by $20.

So, that will go in the variance account and we will refund that.  The way we will refund that is we will take $20, divide it by the actual delivered volumes for the test period, so then you would get a unit rate of 1.7 cents that we would need to refund on 1,200 units.  So for rate 332, we would take 200 units, which was the actual volume, times 1.7 cents, and you would get the refund of $3.33.

So you paid 20, and you would be refunded $3.33.  So your actual cost for 2017 would be $16.06.  You would get the same outcome if you took $100 to start with and divided that by 1,200 units of volume, you would get the unit rate of 8.30 -- yes, 8.3 cents.  So 8.3 cents multiplied by 200 Units, you would get 16 plus $6 was well.

So, that's the mechanism that we’ll employ through the variance account to keep customers and utilities whole with respect to emissions cost.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay, so to confirm, you are actually changing the unit rate that each company would pay and then applying that to those companies.  So if you wind up bringing in a whole extra amount of revenue, you would recalculate, based on your costs, what the unit rate would be, apply it back to those companies, and then recalculate what they should have paid and then refund them individually for what they should have paid in that year?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, I just want to make it clear.

MS. JAMIESON:  Whether it is a positive or negative variance?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  However, let’s make it clear.  What we can charge customers is the Board-approved unit rates.  That is developed in my forecast in my example that was 10 cents per unit.  Once there is an amount in the variance account, in this case it was $20 that we need to refund, we would calculate the unit rate that we would use to refund those monies to customers.

So you pay first based on the forecast and once there is some variance in the variance account, we develop a new unit rate which is then charged or refunded to customers to get back to actual cost.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay.  So TransCanada was thinking that if they contribute anything to the deferral account -- because you haven't estimated any flow happening for this particular service, that they would always wind up being kind of in an over-contribution situation, so I was just -- that's why I was just looking at that unit rate, just to make sure that then whatever the unit rate would be, as opposed to it starting off with some kind of forecast from the rate 332, that it then gets dealt with at the disposition level.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, every customer will pay the appropriate amount between our rates and then the clearance of the variance account.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay.  Thank you.

So my second line of questioning will be a different issue, just with relation to the company use costs and how that relates to a cost causation principle.  So if we could start by looking up TCPL IR number 3.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Could you confirm the issue number?

MS. JAMIESON:  It is issue number 3.  Or, I'm sorry, issue number 5.  Sorry.

So in TCPL 3, second paragraph, page 3 of 3.  Do you have that?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay.  Great.  So you've stated in your response to TransCanada that if we basically represent 10 percent of the overall system flow that we would pay 10 percent of the costs, and in your response to (c) you've stated that the Board determined that the facility-related obligation costs be recovered from all customers based on a simple driver; is that correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. JAMIESON:  So if you could then pull up the item that we had supplied, the report to the Board, from EB-2015-0363.  It is section 1, and it is page 30 that I'm referring to.

The Board's guidance there was that:

“The OEB has determined that facility-related obligation costs will be recovered from all customers, as they are directly related to the delivery of natural gas to customers, and further, facility-related costs will be allocated to rate classes based on consumption, given that the driver of GHG emissions is gas consumption, and these costs will be recovered through volumetric charge based on that consumption."

I just wanted to get you to confirm, would you agree that, while TransCanada is a customer of Enbridge it is not a consumer of gas?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, I agree with that.  There are other customers on Enbridge's system that are customers, but they are not consumers of natural gas.

MS. JAMIESON:  Thank you.

So going back to the Board's guidance for a second that is focused on consumption, would you agree that the direction there in their comments is a cost causation user pay principle?

MR. KACICNIK:  Can you direct me to the specific sentence that you are referring to?

MS. JAMIESON:  Yes, just in the -- that the OEB has determined that the facility-related obligation costs will be recovered from all customers -- sorry, to go into the next paragraph:

“Facility-related costs will be allocated to rate classes based on consumption, given the driver of the GHG emissions is gas consumption."

MR. KACICNIK:  In this case, I think the Board stated that the cost causation is delivered volumes.  I see that they are using consumption in the following paragraph.  I am not sure if they are using consumption and delivered volumes interchangeably or if they are referring to the denominator on which unit rates will be designed on.

I think that they made it very clear in other parts of their cap and trade framework that those volumes will be used by the company to operate the system.  For example, the company-use volumes to heat the buildings, to power the fleet vehicles, then fuel compressor volumes and unaccounted-for gas volumes, so none of those volumes reach customers' burner tips, so they are all used up in the operation of the network.

So I'm not sure what they meant when they said "consumption".  It is possible that they used that term interchangeably, but I think they made it clear that the driver in their opinion is delivered volumes.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay.  So in the response to TCPL 3, where you'd indicated that if we had used -- if rate 332 represented 10 percent of the overall flow, that it would pay 10 percent of the costs, would you accept, subject to check -- and I can go through the math if you'd like, but would you, subject to check, confirm or agree that if rate 332 and the contract for 1,200 TJs a day that TransCanada obtained, if we flowed it at 100 percent, that that would represent approximately 50 percent of their overall budget forecast volumes for this whole system?

MR. KACICNIK:  Subject to check, if --


MS. JAMIESON:  Subject to check.

MR. KACICNIK:  -- you flow your contract full each and every day throughout the year, yeah, that could be possible, yes.

MS. JAMIESON:  So it would be almost half of the whole system flow?

And could you confirm that your company-use costs category is made up of the fleet vehicle emissions, the building emissions, and the boiler emissions costs?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. JAMIESON:  So as a hypothetical, say TransCanada were to flow its rate 332 contract at the 100 percent level, do you believe that TransCanada would drive 50 percent of the fleet-related emissions of Enbridge?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, I would agree that that would not be the case.  However, I think what the Board is looking at here is striking a balance between administrative simplicity and cost causality.

For example, when we look at administration cost for the cap and trade program, there will be large final emitters who will be incurring their own cost to administer the program.  They will be buying their own allowances, so they will have administration costs and so forth.

However, the Board struck a balance between the quantum of those costs and cost causality and directed that administration costs be recovered from all customers.

When it comes to facility-related emissions cost, they also said those should be recovered from all customers, and if you look at the quantum, it's roughly 4 million for a facility-related versus 370 million for customer-related.

Now, at Enbridge we went one step further, and we split facility-related emissions between company-use, compressor fuel, and unaccounted-for gas, from which company-use, it's roughly 200 out of 4 million.

And again, to strike that appropriate balance we feel that's appropriate, and again, we enhance the cost causality, augmented cost causality, by going through those three categories, which also mimics cost causality between Cap-and Trade rates and our base rates, but we are not really looking to do anything further than that.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay.  So I will just finish my question, but would you also agree that if we use the contract at 100 percent we would or wouldn't derive 50 percent of the building-related emissions or the boiler-related emissions?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yeah, if you flew every day full, if you flew your contract full day in, day out, yes, that could be the outcome, yes.

MS. JAMIESON:  That we could derive 50 percent of those costs?

MR. KACICNIK:  Well, not --


MS. JAMIESON:  The emissions costs.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yeah, we would recover -- we would recover about 50 percent of those costs from rate...

MS. JAMIESON:  I'm just asking if we would actually drive those costs, cause them from a cost causation principle approach?

MR. KACICNIK:  We have not carried out any studies like that, but it would be unlikely.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay.  And just another on that related topic.  If we had variations in the contract, if we flowed, for example, 10 percent versus 100 percent, do you see it driving that big of a difference in the cost emissions for building, fleet, vehicle?

MR. KACICNIK:  No, I do not, but I do think that that there is a value in administrative simplicity versus buying into a very specific status on this subject matter.

MS. JAMIESON:  Thank you.  So for my last question, I've already turned up the -- or asked you to look at the TCPL IR 3(c).  You’ve said that you hadn't done any analysis on the O&M costs that we had asked about.  Are there any updates on the question that we had asked?

MR. KACICNIK:  No, I don't have any updates.

MS. JAMIESON:  Would you be willing to undertake to file in this proceeding, what the total O&M dollars would be for the entire Enbridge system, and also undertake to file the O&M related to what was allocated to the rate 332 service?

MR. KACICNIK:  No, I'm not willing to do that.  It's my opinion that the Board is looking at simple solutions for this, given the quantum of costs.  And as I said, we already went one extra step by splitting facility-related emissions between the three categories, with company use being the smallest one, roughly $200,000 out of 4 million total facility-related. So I think we -- we segregated it, made it more granular to reflect an enhanced level of cost causality on these costs.  But I think at this point, I'm not willing to take that undertaking because I don't think it's warranted.

MS. JAMIESON:  Well, the relevance to TransCanada is we just think it would help inform the Board from a cost causation perspective for what's driving the cost.

MR. KACICNIK:  I'm not certain what kind of work that would take and again --


MS. JAMIESON:  I think it’s already numbers that are known; it would just be a matter of filing them.  There has been something allocated to the rate 332 service.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Jamieson, would it be suffice to make the argument that that is a potential cost allocation methodology and to put up perhaps just a conceptual picture of how that would be improved upon to the current -- if the Board found merit in that argument, the cost allocation, I think, could be done at a later date as opposed to analyzing it just to have the contrast. I think the witness has stated why they don't feel that that's warranted.  But I think the argument could be made, and then we'll hear the counterargument.

MS. JAMIESON:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be fine?  Thank you, Ms. Jamieson.

MS. JAMIESON:  That would be it, thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, good afternoon, Panel, and good afternoon to Enbridge.  Ms. Oliver-Glasford, I can see you around the corner here.  I will try not to do the stealth cross-examination.  Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you this afternoon on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.  We understand and respect that not all things can be subject and open in this pleading.  So if I touch on an area, certainly I respect that we might be able to find some middle ground in respecting confidentiality.  But we are seeking an understanding of Enbridge's approach in these areas.


First I will start off with something a little more innocuous.  If you would pull up FRPO interrogatory starting at EGDI 1, FRPO 1-5.  In this area, we were asking questions because we were trying to -- our primary concern was that UFG not be treated as fugitive, given some experience we believe was applicable in this matter, and we reviewed Staff-12 which we directed to -- you don't have to pull that up -- and sections of the guidelines for the greenhouse emissions reporting in regulation 452. So with that as a backdrop, I want to ask in terms of a guideline for greenhouse emissions reporting, these guidelines, as I understand, are harmonized with those this in Quebec and California; is that correct?

MS. MURPHY:  That's correct to some extent.  They are all members of WCI, the Western Climate Initiative, and  there is WCI guidelines on emission reporting, but each province or state may change some slightly.  So it's mostly aligned, but there are some differences, for example, between Ontario and Quebec.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that's a helpful clarification.  Thank you. Did the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change consult your utility in developing these calculations that is are embedded in the guidelines?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes, they did.

MR. QUINN:  That is helpful to understand that.  So does Enbridge view the steps in the regulations make a sufficient distinction in the calculation of carbon emissions versus fugitive emissions to ensure that all unaccounted for gas is not treated as fugitive?

MS. MURPHY:  So under the guidelines, we are required to report in three different sections, one of which is the distribution of natural gas which, in the guidelines is called methodology 01400. And then we are also reporting under ON350, which is reporting on basically our operational emissions, including venting and fugitive, as well as in section O120, which is on our combustion emissions.


So under ON350, we are reporting our venting and fugitive emissions and that category is reportable only.  We are not filing in that section, the entirety of UAF.  As you can appreciate, some of UAF is venting and fugitive emissions, but not all of it.


So that is strictly just venting and fugitive emissions, such as pipeline leaks or damages, venting due to equipment, some equipment pneumatics for example, has regular venting, and then venting our pipeline. Then we do report, under section ON400, the customer emissions and the point of regulation is the gate station.  So it does include our UAF emissions.  However, it's using an emission factor that assumes that all of that gas is combusted.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Maybe it would be helpful if you turn up FRPO.3. If you scroll control down -- sorry, we’re in FRPO.3 here.  We were trying to ask Enbridge for its best estimate of measurement of measurement-induced UFG as a percentage of total UFG, and the company provided an answer of 90 percent.

So with that backdrop, is it Enbridge's view, regarding the appropriateness of unaccounted for gas being separated from UFG, that the regulations do an adequate job of separating those two distinct components between emissions from combustion and fugitive emissions?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes, the 90 percent is an estimate based on comparing our emissions to our unaccounted for gas.  So it's not an exact number, but it's roughly 90 percent, we believe, is due to other reasons, other than our actual emissions from venting and fugitives, and mostly would be attributed to metering.

So to answer your question on the regulation, we did review both the Quebec regulation and California, as we were working with the Ministry to determine the point of regulation.  In Quebec, they use the point of regulation as the customer's meter set, and in California, it is the custody transfer station. When we reviewed the math doing it both ways, it actually comes -- if you use the customer meter and then add on venting and fugitives directly, versus if you were to just use the gate station, the math comes up very closely because you are assuming that that unaccounted for gas is burned somewhere on the system.  And, you know, based on the metering tolerances, I think that is a fair assumption.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, just before you carry on, I just want to understand what your concern in this area would be. It sounds like what you may be driving at is the efficacy of the regulation as opposed to the cost consequences of compliance with the regulation.

MR. QUINN:  My concern, sir -- thank you, that was the end of my questions in this area.  I didn't want to dive us into the details.  But to the extent that there would be a determination that fugitive -- that unaccounted for gas, a greater portion of unaccounted for gas is fugitive, it has a higher impact on the allowance credits that would otherwise have to be purchased for that. But I see that Enbridge has applied its utility experience and a review of jurisdictions to come up with what we believe is a balanced approach, and it reduces the impact that is --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm not asking for your argument here.  I'm just trying to separate out the notion of -- are you -- it sounded to me like you were questioning the merits of the regulation and where it landed on as to how things would be allocated.

MR. QUINN:  How Enbridge applied that in coming one its rate-making that was underpinning the allocations of
facility-related emissions, and that's the distinction, sir, to this point.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I am going to turn to another issue relative to staffing, and we did ask questions in FRPO 6 which would be after that series on unaccounted-for gas.

We were directed to IGUA 1, and we follow that to Staff 3, and I think Staff 3 is probably the best location, if you would be able to bring up Staff 3, and I have a specific question that I gleaned from that:

“We are satisfied with your answers that no additional costs would be claimed for existing staff."

But then in reading Staff 3, and specifically 3(b) in the response -- thank you -- it says:

“The cost for cap and trade team members are inclusive of direct associated costs such as incentive payments and benefits."

And I guess our question is:  Are any of these incentives tied to performance relative -- performance of actual costs relative to forecasted cost?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, they are not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that's encouraging.  We were just concerned that there would be a risk of incenting what could be perceived as speculative behaviour with that incentive, and I'm hearing that's not the case, so we're thankful for that, because we are going to lead now into risk management.

And so if the next -- if you could turn up the next FRPO interrogatory, FRPO 7.  What we were seeking to understand in FRPO 7 was Enbridge's views on the allocation of risk associated with the use of forward purchases and structured products.  Again we are directed to CCC 4, but I don't think we need to go there, because I didn't quite understand -- I didn't get the answer I was seeking in that interrogatory response.

My summary of Enbridge's answer, which -- you can confirm if this is correct, but Enbridge's answer seemed to be summarized by, you are seeking approval for the whole plan, but you haven't given us specific responses to the prudence of allowances purchased in respect of categories of A through F?  Is that -- maybe you would like to see CCC 4, but in reading it I didn't get an answer to those specific questions of risk management.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  In CCC 4 we do outline that Enbridge has been tasked with the statutory obligation of requiring the necessary GHG allowances and credits which reflect the natural gas usage of its customers, and it goes on.  But the Board in response issued its framework for the assessment of such costs in the compliance plan developed by the utilities.

I think it's fair to say that this is a statutory obligation that is required of Enbridge.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I respect and appreciate that that's the case.

If we can go back to FRPO 7, I provided a specific reference from a past Board decision related to risk management of the commodity purchases.

Now, I heard your discussion with Mr. Vellone this morning that I think what I heard from you, if you can confirm, is that you don't know the future costs of allowances in this market, as you do not know the future costs of commodity in the -- in that market with any level of certainty.  Do I have that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So in the reference that was referenced above there, 2005-0520, decision with reasons, the specific paragraph of 2.3.7 reads:

“It is important to highlight the fact that the 24-month contracts form a part of Union's risk management program.  That program, which has been commented upon elsewhere in the decision, contemplates the use of fixed instruments, exactly like those proposed here.  Insofar as the Board has approved the risk management program in the form of hedging instrument represented by the 24-month fixed contracts, no further Board approval is needed.  As usual -- and I emphasize -- this is my emphasis -- as usual the prudence of these arrangements may be tested when the consequences of them are sought to be included in rates."

So with that as a backdrop, if the Board were to take a similar view of forward fixed-price contracts, what is Enbridge's view on the allocation of risk between shareholders and ratepayers for purchases of allowances beyond one year?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Unfortunately, Mr. Quinn, that would be confidential, how we've structured our compliance plan.  However, as I indicated before, we did pay attention to the various steps and the feedback in this process to date to come up with the framework.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I would like to try to do this differently so we are not talking about any specificity in terms of your compliance plan, but hypothetically, if Enbridge were to purchase allowances beyond one year, based upon the Board's decision referenced above, what is Enbridge's view of who would bear the risk of prudence for purchases of allowances beyond one year?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm not sure that it's appropriate for me to speculate at this time, given the details within the confidential portions of the compliance plan are there for review of the Board.  And our plan is a 2017 plan, and as we go we might gain more experience and certainly reach out to our customers and our stakeholders to determine, you know, in general terms, what might be appropriate or of interest for longer-term view.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess I'm structuring my question differently.  Hypothetically, if you did go out beyond one year, who would bear the risk for those -- for the prudence of those purchases in your -- in Enbridge's view of what the Board has determined previously?

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, sorry to interrupt my friend, Mr. Quinn, but I'm just wondering, if questions of a hypothetical nature about what could happen and ultimately the results were allowed today and for the balance of this proceeding, we could be here for a lot more than the several days that the Board has allotted, and I believe you've already indicated that it is the intention of this Panel to try and limit the issues that are ripe for this Panel to decide, based upon the nature of the relief that's being sought.

So certainly there is a whole -- there is countless number of hypotheticals that could come forward in a clearance proceeding that could be raised, and I'm not sure there is going to be any help to you as the Panel making the decisions here as to whether or not there is some risk that is incumbent on the company or the risk should rest with ratepayers.

My simple question is simply, how helpful could this line of questioning be to yourself?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Sir, thank you.

What I was trying to get an understanding -- we are in novel territory, wherein a good portion of this proceeding, ratepayers, the people who pay the bills, will not be privy to the approaches, responses, the compliance plan of the utility.

I'm trying to take it to a philosophical level, based upon past Board practice, what the company's view is of who should bear the responsibility in creating the framework in the consultations.

There were submissions by the respective utilities that talked about, if they're not going to make a profit from the performance on buying allowances, then they didn't want to have risks associated with prudence, but now, given the development of the evidence to this point, sir, I guess I, on behalf of my client, are very concerned that there is potential ratepayer risk for which we will not have any input into, is it appropriate for the utilities to be entering into, as the term was used today, nascent markets with ratepayers' money to learn from.

Our -- we are trying to understand, are the utilities going to be taking the appropriate prudent steps in protecting the ratepayer and using the guide of their commodity purchases in the -- as a backdrop to that, we believe that they know a lot more about commodity purchases than they do about emission allowances, and the Board has already rendered its decision in that area, so I was looking for a philosophical response, not a specific response, in terms of who bears the risk.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, and to my earlier comments and to Mr. O'Leary's comments just now, and what determination would we be making on the relief sought in this case for 2017 on those submissions?

MR. QUINN:  What may come from that, sir, is an opportunity to consider ratepayers' perspective in determination of how the Board directs the utilities, in terms of their compliance plans for which we don't have a voice into.

We don't know if zero percent or 10 percent or more of their allowances also be purchased through financial instruments that bear a level of risk that may or my not be appropriate in the minds of those people who are paying the bill.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And I think to your earlier -- you voiced a frustration and I understand your frustration, I believe, is with the framework itself and the confidentiality around it, which is designed by others.  It's not the Board that is put those kinds of restrictions in place.  So the Board it is operating within that framework, obviously, and it is different than anything we've dealt with in the past.  I think that's recognized in the framework.

So I think to the extent that the philosophical debates, Mr. Quinn, need to occur, I'm not sure in this particular case it's of any assistance to this Panel to hear those issues.

The Board is going to be visiting things on a consultation basis, on a go-forward basis, whenever it sees the need to for those philosophical debates.  But as was mentioned earlier, and we took the care to give that guidance last week, that we will be wanting to restrict this for everyone's sake for the time value to the things that we will be making determinations on, recognizing it is a one-year application and all three applicants, so...

MR. QUINN:  Sir, thank you.  I respect the Board's position.  Clearly, this is a time of evolution and we will make that as part of our submissions.

So that will be all our questions for today.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Ms. Girvan?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.

If you could first turn to CCC issue 1, number 1, please, we were interested in exploring any implications with the merger between Specter and Enbridge Inc., and the associated relationship between Union Gas and Enbridge.

The answer to the question -- the question was explained how it could impact the plan, and the answer was basically saying that the government regulation has been passed.

Can you help me with understanding why that -- what was the genesis of that regulation?

MS. CHRISTIE:  Could you give us the reference at the regulation or what you are referring to?

MS. GIRVAN:  It's in the response on the screen, the regulation, O. Regulation 144/16.

MS. MURPHY:  So in February 2017, the government did pass an amendment to Ontario Regulation 144/16.  The regulation to amend that regulation was O.Reg. 56/167.

And that regulation basically states that for 2017, Enbridge and Union are not related participants, which means that we are exempt from sharing holding limits and purchasing limits, and therefore would also be prevented from sharing strategies or pursuing the same conversations on pursuing the same strategy.

Also, the regulation did alleviate a concern that if you have related entities, you need to share those purchase purchasing and holding limits, and if those limits change within a time period before the auction, then you would not be able to participate in the auction.  So that regulation, basically by stating that we weren't regulated participants would, if we so chose to participate at the auction, meant that we wouldn't be prohibited because of that merger.

MS. GIRVAN:  So I'm just trying to understand what the implications of this are.  So it's saying that even though you are now technically affiliates, for the purposes of this, you are not affiliates?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes, so with a cap and trade regulation, it has a definition of related entities and by way of the merger, we would now be considered to be related, and would have to share holding and purchase limits.  But because of this regulation, it has exempted those requirements for the one year, for 2017.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and do you expect that to change going forward?

MS. MURPHY:  It is clearly stated in the regulation that it's revoked as of January 1st, 2018.

If linkage with California and Quebec occurs and it is a larger market, I would expect that the government would likely not extend this because it may be -- might be difficult for them to link with California with such a clause in their regulation.

However, if linkage does not occur for January 1, 2018, then it is possible this would be extended.

MS. GIRVAN:  So does this mean that Union and Enbridge have to, as of today, work in isolation with respect to your cap and trade strategies?  You are required to work in isolation?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, but it would be possible going forward if this regulation is expired or -- that you would be able to develop similar approaches and work together?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes, it's possible that once this regulation or this exemption was not in place, that we could work together on a strategy or at the very minimum, we would be required to apportion the market limits between Ourselves, so we would need to at least coordinate in that respective.  But we could pursue one strategy for the two companies.

MS. GIRVAN:  So as of -- before this was in place, Union and Enbridge together were sort of too big to comply with what the government wanted?  Is that really the bottom line for it?  It would be too dominating within the market to --


MS. MURPHY:  I'm not sure I would say that we're too dominating in the market.  It is really that the limits that are in place, the holding and purchase limits, are restrictions on entities and how much allowance could be purchased and held.  And as a combined entity, those limits would be difficult to comply with.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.   So, if you could turn up the presentation from this morning, and I think it's K1.1.  I am looking at this as slide 14.

I am quite sure this is the first time at least I've seen this -- I'll wait till it gets up -- this 25 percent trigger both with the actual weighted average cost of an allowance and the change in forecasted volumes.

Can you explain to me what those mean, please, if you are allowed to?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I'll do my best.  These are new items, so you have not seen them before in the evidence.  They are proposed here today as additional reporting to the Board as an additional measure of governance, if you will, to identify if there's material thresholds that have been triggered in the marketplace.

MS. GIRVAN:  When I am looking at the deferral account that relate to your forecast versus your actuals, is the 25 percent related to that, say, for example, your forecast volumes were somehow 25 percent different than what you actually resulted?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, in terms of the deferral.  So if we looked at that column that had the proxy price of 17.70, the intention was that if there was a 25 percent increase on that 17.70, on the actual weighted average, then there would be a trigger that would be hit, and essentially be notifying the Board that indeed we've gone 25 percent over the 17.70.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, can you help me with what the amount would be in 2017?  I'm looking for a dollar value.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sure, I don't -- I haven't played out the full value, but in terms of the cost for an allowance, that would bring it up to $22.13.  So if were to hit that threshold, we would be notifying them.

MS. GIRVAN:  What would be the total dollar impact for 2017 if that happened?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I could provide that in an undertaking.

MS. GIRVAN:  That would be helpful, thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It would be undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE THE DOLLAR VALUE IMPACT IN 2017 IF THE FORECAST VOLUMES WERE 25 PERCENT DIFFERENT


MS. GIRVAN:  So the point of that is really just to say if we are really out of whack, we want the Board to know and potentially we might come forward with a proposal to deal with the deferral account?  Is that the point of this as a potential option, so that -- the way that I look at it is if you have a big amount accumulating in that account, it would be a good idea to tell the Board.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that would be the outcome of this additional reporting.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. KACICNIK:  If you look at the Board's cap and trade regulatory framework, page 33, they discuss the potential for large balances to accumulate in these accounts.

What they say here is:

“The OEB acknowledges the potential for large deferral account balances in relation to the customer-related duplication costs and will, if necessary, examine more frequent recalibrations and true-ups in the regulatory framework review process.  This does not preclude the utilities or the OEB from determining, based on particular circumstances, that a more frequent review of the rates is needed."

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So the point of that trigger was exactly that.  If you had a significant balance, there might be an option to deal with it; is that correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, back to administration costs -- I hate to sort of go back to this, but I'm struggling with again the relief you're asking.  And I've heard you say, and I've got in quotes "an assessment of reasonableness".

My question to you is -- and this might be for Mr. O'Leary -- is, does that mean that you are asking for a legal determination of reasonableness?

MR. O'LEARY:  I'm always happy to provide argument at the earliest stage possible.  We are certainly looking for a determination by the Board that what is being proposed -- the forecasts that are being proposed are reasonable and sounded in the evidence.

It will be subject to a review by the -- by a subsequent panel and the actual amounts at a future hearing, at which times parties can raise arguments at that point as to whether or not they believe the amounts were prudently incurred.

But if there has been a determination by this Panel that the forecasts are reasonable and that the plan as applied for is followed, that the prudent -- the onus would shift, there would be a presumption of reasonableness and prudence that would apply at that time in the subsequent proceeding.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you are saying the review -- and I don't want to tread beyond where I'm supposed to tread, but in the future it would be just the variances that would be subject to review, if that happened?

MR. O'LEARY:  It's a presumption that the amounts actually spent were prudently incurred.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  The variances or the entire amount?

MR. O'LEARY:  The entire amount.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Could you please turn to Board Staff 21.  And this is just a quick question with respect to the development of the templates.

You've proposed templates in your evidence.  And if you turn on to the next page, I believe, it states that Enbridge is agreeable to discussing its monitoring reporting templates if it's felt that additional transparency of the activities might be achieved.

So are you seeking in this case approval of the templates that you've proposed for 2017?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think certainly we would seek to understand that they are reasonable as a starting point, but we do recognize that with continuous improvement there may be need to be items that we add on as we move forward.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could now turn to Board Staff No. 1, please.  And I'm just looking -- I think with respect to the GGEIDA, you have stated -- I'm not sure if it's in here -- that you are having monthly reporting on that, monthly reporting on the amounts; right?  Is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Correct.  It's part of our inner financial, so every month we go through.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Yes, it does -- "the accounting group provides the cap and trade group monthly reports, identified incurred charges", so do you have actuals to date for 2017?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Yes, we do.

MS. GIRVAN:  And could you provide these, please?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.5.  Can we just clarify what the requested undertaking is?

MS. GIRVAN:  It's the administrative costs -- let me just go back.  Sorry.  It is the G -- sorry, my pieces of paper.  It's the GGEIDA, the costs incurred to date in 2017.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE THE GGEIDA, THE COSTS INCURRED TO DATE IN 2017.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, if you could now turn to Exhibit C, tab 3, Schedule 6, please.  And I'd just like a clarification.  It's the sentence at the top of the first
-- bottom of the first paragraph.  And this is again about:

“The company is not seeking recovery in relation to the additional assistance through the GGEIDA, but reserves the right to articulate the additional work absorbed by non-incremental employees as productivity gains."

Can you explain to me what that means?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  The intention of that was simply to outline the additional work that the company has been investing into cap and trade, that it is not seeking to recover at this time; however, it may be a matter for discussion at the next incentive regulation plan.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you would argue, potentially, at that time that this results in a productivity gain.  Is that what you are saying?  That you are being more productive because you are using existing employees to take on additional work.  Is that what you are saying?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I don't want to predetermine what --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  -- how they are going to provide -- I don't have insight on that, but this was just intended to outline the facts of how many people have been working on this.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I just, I was unclear about "reserves the right to articulate", that's all.  But I guess we'll leave that for another day.

Could you explain -- and I'm not sure we necessarily have to pull this up, because you're quite familiar with this, but it is referred to in Board Staff 13 and Board Staff 3, and it is the various groups that are involved in the cap and trade policy.

And you referred -- and let me just say, you've referred to the carbon procurement governance group, the carbon strategy group, and the carbon strategy steering committee.  And I'd like to have an understanding of how those all fit together, please.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Can you take me to where exactly in the reference that I can --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I think in Board Staff 13.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  13?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, this is Board Staff 13.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  And is that issue 1?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Great, thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what I understand is you had a carbon strategy steering committee initially.  You're, I think -- I'm trying to answer the question for you -- you're the head of the carbon strategy group; is that correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I can understand the confusion.  So I am the head of the carbon strategy team --


MS. GIRVAN:  Team?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, so the staff that is --


MS. GIRVAN:  Somewhere it says "group", so I just wanted to be --


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Fair enough.  There was a carbon strategy steering committee, which was comprised of various stakeholders from across the organization, which was in place, as I understand it, in 2015, as well as the better part of 2016, as things were evolving, and we wanted to make sure the organization was communicating across boundaries.

Once we received the cap and trade framework from the Board we felt it was necessary to put in a more focused carbon procurement governance group, so that's the difference between the group, so the membership is different.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So the initial one is now not in place any more?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And can you explain to me the relevance of having voting and non-voting members, please, and what they would be voting on?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We really took, as we've talked about earlier today, some guidance from how the gas supply planning structures are put into place.  We also sought guidance from other jurisdictions and understood that in Quebec, in particular, one of the utilities at a conference we attended spoke about a governance group that they had for procurement around making decisions on what instruments might be selected in what quantities, you know, and when, for example.

And so we took -- to keep heed of those various inputs and structured a carbon procurement governance group to stay well abreast of market information so that any given time, they can make decisions that -- with the best available information at that time.

It was also important to have a voting membership, so we had put senior membership on that CCPG in order to bind the organization to provide a multi-disciplinary review of the compliance plan from a number of different perspectives, backgrounds.

MS. GIRVAN:  So the nonvoting members essentially report to the voting members?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  The nonvoting members are the various folks that are in the trenches, if you will, with all of the information with the various inputs providing inputs, guidance, information to the voting members.

There are regular meetings and in those regular meetings that -- you know, we take minutes, we have agendas.  There is time for discussion and contemplation of information being provided and those nonvoting members can, you know, respond to questions real time in order to provide an informed decision making process.

MS. GIRVAN:  So having sort of more technical people on the committee that are constantly sort of –

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.  It takes a lot of time and we're learning more and more that it takes a great deal of time and attention to understand what's happening in California, Quebec, all these other Jurisdictions, and how they impact the market.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just a follow-up to Mr. Quinn, he was referring at one point to incentive payments.  Are those incentive payments as part of your compensation structure for those that are working on the cap and trade?  Is that what he was talking about?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That was my understanding.

MS. GIRVAN:  And are those going into the deferral accounts?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  For the incremental FTEs that are assigned to cap and trade, yes, they would be part of the deferral account costs.

MS. GIRVAN:  Do we have any examples of what those cent incentives are, or is that confidential?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, Ms. Girvan, I don't quite understand.

MS. GIRVAN:  So structures within the context of the employees that are working on the cap and trade.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Those would be our standard incentive plans that Enbridge has for employees.

MS. GIRVAN:  Wouldn't there be specific metrics related to cap and trade?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  There would be scorecards for company-wide, team-wide; there’s a whole slew of different things that make up the incentive plan for the company and for its employees.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could please turn to Staff number 7, please.  It is exhibit number -- issue 1.  And on page 2, I wanted a quick clarification since we're talking a lot about those costs.

Can you explain to me in more detail about that compliance plan development inclusive of offsets and brokerage fees?  Could you provide a better breakdown of that?

It is hard for me to understand what that means.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  It is hard to break it down too far, but roughly half of it has been earmarked for compliance plan development and the other half for offset planning and brokerage fees.

MS. GIRVAN:  Compliance plan development, who is doing the development?  I thought you have a complement of staff that is already doing that.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We have been highly prudent with the number of staff that we have allocated as incremental to cap and trade and given the nascent nature of the market, as well as the fact that this is a financial market that is growing and evolving, that not only is a financial market in the standard sense, but has a lot of policy drivers to how the market functions.

It is prudent for us to seek expert sources of information, given the magnitude of the allowances that we're buying.

MS. GIRVAN:  So these are consultant costs?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, they are.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Another question with respect to the forecast 2017 administrative costs.  Are they all O&M costs?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  These are not -- so the costs that we have outlined here?  Is that the ones that you are looking at?

MS. GIRVAN:  Well, there are these, but there is also the whole set of 2017 costs.  I am just wondering if you could differentiate if there are any capital costs.

Just to give you context, the reason why that's important is when we go to clear the account at the end of the day, we want to fully understand what your proposal was, whether it is capital or O&M or just O&M against whatever the actuals are.

MR. LANGSTAFF:  In Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 6 on page 13, the first cost, which is the revenue requirement for the IT billing system, would be capital, and the remainder of the costs would be in the deferral account as O&M.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, that's helpful.  Thank you.

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Sorry, not O&M, just a new deferral account.

MS. GIRVAN:  But they are O&M-related; they are not capital costs?

MR. LANGSTAFF:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Oh, I see.  That is the revenue requirement implication.

If you could turn to page 11 on that same exhibit, it refers to bad debt expenses.  At the bottom it says that the bad debt expense for 2017 is 9.796 million.

If you could turn again to Board Staff number 8, please?  And that is also found in the SEC compendium at page 25 -- Board Staff 8, excellent.

If you turn to page 2, I see 9.5 is 2016.  The full expense in 2016 for bad debt was 7 million, but you are proposing to use the forecast for 2017 and taking the percentage of that to come up with your bad debt expense strictly related to cap and trade.

Can you help me with that, given your actuals in 2016 were only 7 million?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sure.  If I can take you back through the chart, in 2014 and 2015 you will notice that those numbers are significantly higher than the as-filed bad debt expense.

There was a cold winter that increased the cost, increased the bad debt.  And so it really does prove out that there is a correlation between increased costs and the  increase in bad debt.

In our customized IR, the size or the quantum of cap and trade costs was not known, and certainly was not anticipated as a number within the bad debt expense.  So it is an incremental cost, and how we really looked at the -- and determined the 900,000 was on a 10 percent, a rough 10 percent increase on customers' costs based on cap and trade.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So in '16 it's 9.5 was your forecast, in '17, 9.796 is the forecast.  Why does that change?  You can take an undertaking if you'd like to explain that to me.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think we'll take an undertaking for that number.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It will be Undertaking J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO EXPLAIN WHY THE CHANGE  IN FORECASTS RE:  IN 2016, 9.5 WAS THE FORECAST, IN 2017, 9.796 IS THE FORECAST.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I just, I am still trying to understand briefly this whole bad debt expense that you are allocating, per se, to cap and trade, how you've determined that to say the 900,000 is the allocation to cap and trade.  I guess where you came up with the 10 percent.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  For an explanation of how it was derived, the best example is in our evidence, in Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 6, page 11 of 13.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, that's what I'm looking at.  It is just not clear to me.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So --


MS. GIRVAN:  At the bottom of the page.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  -- essentially we understand that the cost is forecasted to be 10 percent on the average customer's bill, so a 10 percent increase is as it relates to cap and trade, and as such, a 10 percent increase on the bad debt expense.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you are assuming just a linear relationship there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I just have one more question, and it might be very obvious, but are residential system gas customers and residential direct purchase gas customers impacted in the same way under your cap and trade proposals?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, they are --


MS. GIRVAN:  They are.  Okay.

MR. KACICNIK:  --exactly the same way.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

Mr. Elson?  We'll be targeting a break at around 3:20, so if you can set up your cross accordingly.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  One thing I will mention.  We've had quite a bit of a cross-examination and rather full legal response from Mr. O'Leary on his -- foreshadowing his argument, I take it, on the reasonableness and what the expectations are, so we clearly have that on the record.

I think that to the extent that people have an answer to that we need not plow that ground again, I think, unless you've got something new to add to the conversation.

The Board is very interested.  We expect argument on that as to exactly what means and what the determinations being sought today and what is the appropriate meaning of an approval of reasonableness and the fallout of that in the disposition of the accounts and the connection of the two, so we are very interested in that, so -- but I think we've got a fairly clear indication of what the expectation of the applicant is on the record.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And I won't be going over that ground again.

Mr. Chair, we have a compendium.  I believe it's being handed up, and I believe our panel members should have copies with them.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will mark that Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR EGDI PANEL 1.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  So my questions today -- well, I should just actually introduce myself for the record.  My name is Kent Elson.  I represent Environmental Defence, and I have met some of you before, so it is good to see you again.

Today my questions will be focusing on issue 1.5, in particular relating to options analysis and optimization of decision-making, particularly relating to an assessment of abatement activities.

And so just to start with a simple terminology question.  Customer abatement, natural gas conservation, and demand-side management, do you consider those all to be essentially the same thing, Ms. Oliver-Glasford?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I believe we have a list in our evidence, and it does include energy efficiency, demand-side management, and the like, yes.

MR. ELSON:  So I'm going to use the word "conservation" to apply to those categories, but if you feel that there needs to be differentiation made between any of those three, just let me know.

Ms. Oliver-Glasford, I think you would agree that Enbridge has extensive experience with conservation programs dating back to as early as 1995 and perhaps even before that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And so far that's been under the Board's DSM framework; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  I'd like to take you to some materials in Enbridge's most recent application under the DSM framework, starting at page 2 of our compendium.

And so halfway down this page you will see on page 2 of the compendium -- there we go -- you will see that in 2017 the forecast TRC benefit/cost ratio for Enbridge's resource acquisition programs was forecast to be 3.43.  Do you see that there?  It's the circled number to the far right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, are you on page -- table 2?  Oh, I see.  It's on the...

MR. ELSON:  Do you have circles on your copies?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I don't have circles, no.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, you can use another copy that I will provide.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's okay.  I can circle these ones.  Thanks.

MR. ELSON:  And so on the screen you will see that there are some numbers that are circled, including the 3.43?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I can see those.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And so that means that for every $100 of incremental spending by Enbridge and by the consumer combined at a societal level there will be $343 of benefits; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Roughly that's how it works, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the TRC ratio includes all of the costs and the benefits from a societal perspective, so it's including also the costs that the util -- sorry, that the consumers are contributing towards these conservation measures; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  It doesn't capture all of the costs, but it does capture the avoided the gas, electric, and water costs, as well as a 15 percent adder.

MR. ELSON:  Now, when I refer to costs I think you're using costs to be avoided costs, and I just mean the TRC costs as in the costs of pursuing the measure.  It includes those costs both from a consumer perspective and a utility perspective; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Without getting too much into the mechanics of it, it doesn't include, for example, the incentive cost, so there it is cost therefore for the company, as well as ultimately the ratepayers, as well as perhaps any incremental costs that they are paying for, technology.

MR. ELSON:  Of course, and that's because an incentive payment is considered from a societal perspective, a transfer from the utility to the consumer; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's why it's not included, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so what it's focusing is the cost from a societal perspective to implement the measure; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. ELSON:  In terms of the benefits, it doesn't include all the avoided costs, but the primary driver of the benefits are avoided gas; is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  It depends on the technology or the program, so there is varied drivers, but typically it would be gas, in our programs.

MR. ELSON:  But some of these measures also save electricity and other resources, and so there is other kinds of avoided costs; that's fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  If we turn back to the table, these are again the 2017 figures, the total TRC costs were forecast to be $63 million; do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so that's a net present value, correct, subject to check?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And so those are the costs of the measure, and if you turn over to the next circle or the first one actually, $216 million are the total TRC benefits, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  You're in that same chart, the first circled number, the 216 million?  Yes, it appears to be the total net present value of benefits.

MR. ELSON:  So that would be representing the stream of savings stretching out into the future from the decreased gas usage, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Great.  So roughly speaking, those savings correspond to lower energy bills for consumers from improved energy efficiency; that's what those benefits are?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  They result in lower bills for participants.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And those future benefits would have been discounted using the net present value calculation, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, subject to check, I think it's 4 percent.

MR. ELSON:  So if you take the benefits minus the cost, you end up with the net TRC benefits, which is $153 million.  You see that there, it's the third circled number?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I see that number.

MR. ELSON:  That means that the benefit of those programs in 2017, the 2017 programs, outweigh the cost by $153 million?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  On a theoretical basis, yes, that's what it would say.

MR. ELSON:  And one way to think of that would be that $153 million is like a profit.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  It's not like putting money in your pocket.  We do go through verification processes and -- so just to be clear, that's not money in people's pockets.  But over time, that would be savings gained presumably.

MR. ELSON:  Absolutely.  And for those TRC figures, Enbridge removers the impact of free riders who would have undertaken the energy efficiency measures even without help from the utility, correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's one of the factors we consider.

MR. ELSON:  Great.  Could you turn to page 6 in our compendium?  We have been talking just now about the benefits from just the 2017 program, and this undertaking response relates to the total net benefits generated by DSM programs undertaken by Enbridge from 1995 to 2014.  And it says here that those net benefits are roughly $2.5 billion; do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  And it seems like a pretty staggering number, but that's an accurate actual figure, is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's a figure based on our verified reports, yes.

MR. ELSON:  When you say verified reports, I think you are alluding to the fact that the DSM results are the subject of significant scrutiny and auditing, is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  So I take it from this that the conservation measures under Enbridge's programs pay for themselves several times over.  Is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  If compared against the savings, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And because the measures are paying themselves through lower gas usage and lower gas bills, those measures are ultimately achieving greenhouse gas emission reductions essentially for free on a societal Level.  Is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm not sure that I can kind of continue to follow along without identifying in the framework, in section 5.3.1 on page 22, that the Board has opined on this matter and in the framework identified that given the newness of the cap and trade program, the OEB considers it premature to apply the TRC or SCT to the utilities compliance plan at this time.

The OEB will consider the use of additional tests such as the TRC or SCT after gaining experience with the assessment of compliance plans.

MR. ELSON:  And that's helpful and I will circle back.  But further to my question -- and perhaps I can rephrase it.  If you are investing $1 and getting $3 back, but you're also getting greenhouse gas emission reductions, those reductions are achieved ultimately -- they're free.  They're in a sense a side benefit to a profitable investment?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  As you know, Mr. Elson, I am a huge advocate for energy efficiency.  But I would say that again in the Board's framework, they outlined that they're confident that any potential overlap can be appropriately addressed, and they go on to say that there is an appropriate opportunity to assess the DSM framework in light of the cap and trade program.

So certainly, you know, I think it appears to me that -- and we know from the DSM multi-plan hearing that cap and trade is a matter that is going to be contemplated at the DSM multi-year review.

MR. ELSON:  And that's a critical point that I am going to have a number of questions for you about, which is the meaning of that section of the Board's report, and I'll need to go through that.

But before we get there, I just want to have an understanding or an answer to whether you agree that from the TRC perspective, when you have significant net benefits that outweigh the costs and also have GHG emission reductions, those reductions are being achieved at no net cost at a societal level.

If you can't confirm that or not, that's fine.  But I'm not sure if I have an answer on that issue yet.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think it's fair, your statement is a fair one.  But how to determine -- how to approach DSM in light of cap and trade is appropriately the subject to start at the DSM midterm review.

MR. ELSON:  And I will definitely be following up on that, but I'm going to continue --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, if the follow-up is going to take us to the same place, Mr. Elson, I'm not sure that we're interested in the follow-up.

If the response is that the series of events that the Board has articulated in the framework is clear, and that's the applicant's position on this, having them agree to a set of facts that you suggest that the policy is perhaps not an appropriate policy, I don't know where that takes us then.

MR. ELSON:  No, we're not disagreeing with the framework at all.  We are disagreeing Enbridge's interpretation of the framework.  It sounds like that's an issue and that's an issue that I'd like to get into shortly.

But I have the answer that I was looking for in terms of, generally speaking, the economics of conservation and the fact that cost effective conservation is in a sense free greenhouse emission reduction.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I heard the witness’s a response to their interpretation of the framework to be what it was.  It’s on the record now.  How much further do you have to explore that to understand how they interpreted the framework?

MR. ELSON:  Well, I'm going to have some questions in that area, but I don't understand to pursue them just at this moment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Let's take a 20 minute break and we'll return at 3:40.

MR. ELSON:  Absolutely.
--- Recess taken at 3:19 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:43 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Do you want to continue where you left off, Mr. Elson?  And just for everybody's planning purposes, we will be wrapping up at 4:45 today or thereabouts, not to the minute, but that's where we're targeting, Mr. Elson, if you're still up before us.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Panel, can you turn to page 9 of our compendium.  There we go.

And so I just have a question or two about these two circled figures.  What we have up on the screen is an interrogatory from Environmental Defence about the 2017 DSM programs.

And the first circled number shows that in 2017 alone the savings from Enbridge's DSM programs will be roughly 130,000 tonnes of CO2 equipment; do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.  I believe the "tonnes" is missing, but, yes, I can see that.

MR. ELSON:  And so Enbridge is assuming a cost of 17.7 dollars per tonne of CO2, and so if you multiply that forecast by 17.7 dollars, those reductions are worth $2.3 million subject to check.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

And so roughly speaking, everything else equal, the 2017 compliance costs are roughly $2.3 million lower because of the free natural gas reductions from the existing DSM programs; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, and those savings have been built into the forecast that started our emission.

MR. ELSON:  But of course Enbridge's 2017 program will bring benefits long into the future; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  All else equal, yes, they should.

MR. ELSON:  And the cumulative savings over the lifetime of the 2017 measures is 1.9 million tonnes, roughly?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That -- I can see that number, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And at 17.7 dollars a tonne, those carbon reductions are worth approximately $34 million, right, subject to check?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  Of course, that's assuming that the carbon cost is staying the same at $17, which it won't.  It's going to increase, right?  Most likely?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm sorry, I can't confirm that response for this particular year.  We're talking about our 2017 compliance plan.

MR. ELSON:  The point that I'm making is that we've calculated the approximate cost or value of those savings at $34 million based on $17 a tonne, but because those savings are in future years, the cost per tonne will be in the respective year, which will presumably be a higher cost per tonne.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Perhaps.  Perhaps they could be higher, but they could also...

MR. ELSON:  They could also be lower?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  They go up, I guess, based on the market, but they could be lower, yeah.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And do you have an assumption right now as to whether carbon prices are going to go up or down over the next ten years or so?  I mean, I had assumed they will go up because your cap is getting more and more stringent, but perhaps you have a different view?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think we're still waiting to see the Board's ten-year carbon forecast, but presumably they would go up, all else being equal.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So I'd like to ask a bit about conservation potential, and starting on page 31 of our compendium.  And page 31 of the compendium is the ICF report that was mandated by the Ministerial directive and commissioned by the Ontario Energy Board; do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I see that.

MR. ELSON:  And so this was completed on July 7th, 2016.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Appears to be, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And if we could turn to page 35.  And if you'd turn to the bottom half of the page, there's two circled figures.  And the first number that we wanted to draw your attention to is 26.5 percent.

Our understanding is that if all cost-effective measures were pursued -- i.e., measures where the savings outweigh the costs -- gas consumption would be reduced by 26.5 percent by 2030 versus the base case; is our understanding correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  The economic potential does outline what is economically feasible, however, not what the market is -- you know there's natural turnover rates, there's market capabilities, so you can't count on that economic potential and hence why there is an achievable potential.

MR. ELSON:  Exactly, and so that's the next number I wanted to bring you to, but the first number, that's the economic potential.  In other words, the measures that are cost-effective and then achievable are the measures that are actually achievable once you consider the factors that you had discussed; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that sounds like an accurate description.

MR. ELSON:  So looking at the 17.08 percent, if all achievable cost-effective measures were pursued, gas consumption could be reduced by 17.8 percent by 2030 versus the base case; is that fair?  Am I understanding this table correctly?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check.  I was not part of this study.  I had moved on to the cap and trade work, so this study was not something that I worked on, Mr. Elson, but, yes, that would be generally what that number would mean.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

And so that's one way of looking at conservation potential, and I'd like to turn to another, which is at page 38 of our compendium.  And so page 38 is an undertaking from the DSM proceeding relating to the benchmarking/jurisdictional analysis undertaken by Navigant for Enbridge, and we had asked that the analysis be reproduced using only the jurisdictions where the achievement of all cost-effective DSM is mandated like it is in Ontario.

And if you could turn to page 40, which is the one table that I wanted to bring you to -- or chart, I should say.  And so this is showing DSM spending as a percent of revenue?  Do you see that there?  It is up on the screen.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I do recall vaguely this undertaking, but I don't have all the pages in front of me, so without being able to see it in its entirety it is a bit tough to answer questions one-on-one on each of the slides without having a chance to look at the whole meaning of it and understand how it fits in with our 2017 compliance plan.

MR. ELSON:  So all of the pages are in there.  It's page 38 to 44 of the compendium.  I only have a question in regard to page 40 in particular.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. ELSON:  I thought you might want a chance to review it, but I'm happy to ask my question, which is that this chart shows that Enbridge is far below the jurisdictions with an all cost-effective DSM mandate in terms of DSM percent spending as a percent of revenue; do you see that there?.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I see that, although at the time, if I recall, there was not full clarity on all of the costs in all of the jurisdictions.  So, you know, just taking that as a caveat, I see this number and I'm not sure all the facts are here, though.


MR. ELSON:  Would you agree that Enbridge's revenue is roughly four times lower than those utilities that are required to implement all cost effective DSM?  Is that something that -- I mean, you can take an undertaking if you want to look into it.  But that's my understanding from this chart here.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'll -- subject to check.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Could you turn, lastly on the issue of conservation potential, to page 45 of our compendium?  This is an excerpt from Enbridge's evidence in the most recent DSM proceeding. 


I'm looking at the cumulative cubic metres in 2015 and 2016, and the volumes of gas savings were forecast to increase by roughly 30 percent.  Subject to check?


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check, that looks roughly right.


MR. ELSON:  Would you be able to provide an undertaking to provide the cumulative cubic metres of gas savings from Enbridge's DSM programs in each year from the advent of those programs?  So it would be continuing this column, cumulative cubic metres, back in time.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Can I understand how that undertaking provides input into our 2017 compliance plan?


MR. ELSON:  Absolutely.  What we are looking at is ramp-ups between years that have occurred in the past.  We have here 2015 to 2020, and something further back in time would also be of assistance.


I assume that's the most highest level of information you have on your DSM programs, so it would be at your fingertips and it would be helpful for us.


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm not sure that it is going to be relevant because -- and we have it on the record in the DSM multi-year hearing that past performance isn't always indicative of future.  And we do recognize that, in general, the savings are becoming more expensive, more difficult to find.  And in a commercial areas, there's been a trend of more projects with fewer savings per project.


So, I'm not entirely sure how past graphs, if you will, of how we've saved versus spent is going to be helpful as we move forward.


Even these -- this table is a forecast and so we don't know with any certainty what we will achieve in any given year.


MR. ELSON:  We wouldn't quibble with the proposition that past ramp-ups are not determinative of what can be done now, but that it's one of the factors that you would look at, of course, is the past and how it relate to the future.  You might have to discount that saying savings are now harder to achieve, but it's one of the pieces of information that you might look at.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, if I might simply raise the question further, and that is whether or not going back to perhaps 1995 and providing a breakdown on the DSM results in each of the past 20 some-odd years could be of any benefit to the Board in this proceeding.


Our respectful submission is that it cannot for the reasons stated by Ms. Oliver-Glasford.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Elson, and beyond that, this table itself, could you make the connection of going back and taking a look at the historic aside from that, what's the connection with this particular table?  You had mentioned earlier that you understood the framework and you weren't questioning the framework.  How does this tie in with what the Board articulated in its framework as to the sequencing of what would inform inter-relation between this cap and trade review of the applications and the upcoming DSM midterm review, and what should -- what information is required from this to lead into that versus the other way around.


MR. ELSON:  What this relates to is this particular proceeding and the 2017 plan, and whether Enbridge should have included or could have included incremental customer abatement, and one of the issues might be is it possible to ramp it up quickly enough.


And so we were just looking at historic figures in terms of what ramp-up has been done in the past. 


Mr. O'Leary has a good point.  Going back all the way to 1995 is probably not helpful.  If they could go back to 2000, perhaps that would be helpful.  Just high-level figures is all that is needed.  We can rely on 2015 to 2020 if there is anything the least bit onerous about collecting that information.  But my understanding is that it would not be hard to gather this data, which is the most highest level figure about its DSM programs in the past.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I agree with you that that would be helpful for the argument that you may want to make.  But I'm wondering from a determinative factor in this hearing and a potential outcome of this application, do you envision that your argument, if agreed to by this Panel, could lead to a refusal of this application and a direction to do a different plan?


MR. ELSON:  I don't want to make argument about what the Board should do, were it to decide that --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Within the possibilities of the possible outcomes of this application, do you envision that the Board could, based on the arguments and the evidence, instruct Enbridge to come back with a different compliance plan?


MR. ELSON:  I think that's an option, but what I'm moving forwards is something more basic than that, than saying that this Board is looking at the options analysis and the optimization exercise that Enbridge undertook, and whether it properly considered abatement as a way to cost effectively put its plan together.


The remedies are a different question and a matter probably for argument.  But at the moment, we're focussing on whether that optimization has been undertaken within the requirements of the framework.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Mr. O'Leary, anything in response to that?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Mr. Chair, as you are probably aware, there was a lengthy proceeding that looked into the multi-year DSM plans of the two utilities that took place not that long ago.  There was an approval granted that goes into very specific details about what amounts would be spent on each of the various DSM programs that the companies were proposing.


And the Board included not only an approved annual budgets per DSM spending, but a formula to increase those budgets in every year.  So, we already have before, and on the record, a very detailed approval of all those figures. 


My friend made various arguments in that proceeding advocating a increase in the DSM budgets which the Board considered and made its ruling as it saw fit.


We subsequently, in late 2016, have the Board-issued  framework for the cap and trade proceeding and Ms. Oliver-Glasford took you to the very components of that framework, which indicated that, if I can put it in lay terms, that now's not the time to consider a significant ramping up in DSM.


So the question then becomes:  What evidentiary record is there before this Panel for you to make a finding that there should be a ramping up of DSM for the purposes of cap and trade.  Our submission would be that there is no record. 


My friend has not adduced evidence to support such.  Simply asking questions out of historical records that may go back five, 10 or 15 years is insufficient to provide you with the evidentiary records, and therefore the jurisdiction, to make what my friend appears to be requesting, which is an order compelling a significant ramping up and an amendment to the Board's DSM approvals in respect of the company's activities.


We remain in the position that my friend has gone too far.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Elson, the framework  -- and considerable time was spent by the Board, as you’re aware, on the consultation and the creation of the framework with input.


It was anticipated that it would be for exactly this purpose.  It was to frame how the Board was going to review the cap and trade and that's out there.  That was laid out as the expectations for what would be included in the applications and the test to meet, as it were.


Now, we recognize that it's a policy statement and we recognize that any one panel is not, you know, bound by the Board's policies.  But if the policy is nothing more than ink on paper, it is designed for a scoping exercise, unless you can make a compelling argument that the Board should not, you know, line up its expectations for discovery in this case with its framework, its articulated policy within the framework, and I don't -- I haven't heard that.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, my understanding of the framework, the cap and trade framework, is that it contemplates abatement activities that are incremental to what's in the DSM plan, and if you'd like, I can take you, Mr. Chair, to the sections of the DSM framework.  I had been -- sorry, to the cap and trade framework.  I had been intending on bringing the witnesses to that further in my cross-examination.  I can move that forward to address that issue, but I think fundamentally the cap and trade framework is not doing what Enbridge says it does, which is saying that there cannot be any more abatement.


In fact, I think it does the opposite:  It refers in a number of places to incremental customer abatement above and beyond the amounts approved in the DSM plans, and so that's the issue that we are trying to get at, and I'm not trying to upturn either of the frameworks through my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I would think that, Mr. Elson, then, I think it's a good idea, and I think it would have been preferable had you started there so that we'd understood that what sections of the framework you were pointing to and link it to that, as opposed to, you know, showcasing the benefits of DSM, which I think Mr. O'Leary has just highlighted has been fully canvassed and understood within that framework and that application.

So if you could bring us to the context of the framework and how you see that these -- what I'm suggesting or what you suggested earlier is perhaps an interpretation issue as to what the framework is designed to incent.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, I'll take the questions there.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, if I might, just if it would be helpful, remind the Board and my friend that we do have a second panel, and Mr. McGill will be on that panel, so specific questions about the company's consideration of abatement, long-term investments, is a matter that that panel will be able to respond to.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Keeping that in mind, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

Ms. Oliver-Glasford, I understand that Enbridge has not incorporated any incremental ratepayer-funded abatement activities into its 2017 compliance plan.  That is not a disagreement there.  It has not; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  There is no disagreement.  We have not included additional ratepayer customer abatement at this time.

MR. ELSON:  And that's because Enbridge believes that the issue of including any incremental DSM activity into the company's compliance planning is best left for the midterm review of the DSM framework; correct?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Not entirely, no.  When we were part of the stakeholdering and subsequently read the framework, certainly it is clear that in -- that we are to consider all of the elements, including the financial instruments, the customer abatement, and the facility abatement.

However, a couple of points for note.  One is the timing, and we discussed it in the opening presentation, was the cap and trade framework was released in late September, and our plans were due in mid-November.

So the time for planning incremental DSM, if you were, was not -- there was not enough time to plan for incremental DSM.  So that's the first and biggest issue.

Second issue is we did look around in terms of references from other jurisdictions on how they integrated, how did it fit, how would we get recognition for that savings in lieu of an allowance.

There were no other references in any other jurisdiction on how they have integrated these two ideas of cap and trade compliance planning and energy efficiency.

For example, in California DSM is a separate docket for their DSM matters from their compliance planning matters.

And the other, you know, forward-looking jurisdiction, B.C., they have a tax.  That tax is passed through and that would be very separate from a DSM matter.

So there is no denying that there is benefits there, but at this time there was not the time nor the insights in order to provide incremental DSM.

The other point of note is that in the decision on the multi-year DSM, the numbers were not static.  The numbers changed.  They rise as -- you know, based on actuals, and so, you know, as a point of matter it is difficult to know when the incremental starts and stops.

So we have some issues to make sure that we have got alignment of goals and objectives, which I did outline in a response to BOMA, BOMA 6, that need to be considered.  And this discussion will start, obviously, here today, and it will likely continue into the DSM midterm review, and I suspect it will continue on even from there.

MR. ELSON:  So if I can paraphrase those reasons:  1 is the difficulty in ramping up; 2 is the technical challenges and regulatory challenges that you haven't figured out yet; and then is number 3 the idea that this should be left to the midterm review?  Is that a fair paraphrasing?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think that is where you'll -- we've already got it, and you spoke to the length of time, the institutionalization of DSM as part of Enbridge's business, and, you know, when we look at carbon, that's a very different piece.  Yes, you could say that energy efficiency produces outcomes which reduce carbon, but fundamentally the structures need to be assessed and looked at, and can they be merged or can they -- you know, do they not merge?  Do they run as separate entities?

And so I think there is a lot of fundamental infrastructure issues when you talk about energy efficiency and how it's run.

MR. ELSON:  So if it was technically possible to ramp it up, would you have done so, or do you view the framework as saying that that can't happen until the midterm review?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think the framework certainly did not preclude it.  However, there were some clear signals that -- you know, the page 22 that we've gone over before that calls out one of the very fundamental items that I think will need to be worked through, is how do you actually match up the price of a carbon allowance or look at it in relation to, or can you even, to TRC or SCT or some other test.

They note as well on that same page:

“The OEB will want to see information from the utilities that demonstrate they have undertaken a detailed analysis which supports their choice of compliance options, including the use of the MACC to pace and prioritize their investments."

There is efforts underway to have the MACC ready, and certainly we expect that to inform future discussions and decision-making.  And, you know, again, the OEB on page 28 indicates that the DSM midterm will provide an appropriate opportunity to discuss cap and trade.

So I think they certainly did not shut it down in this proceeding.  However, the signals are quite clear from my perspective that they didn't anticipate that we would have the time or the ability to have something ready for this year, and certainly there is a lot of larger discussions to be had.

MR. ELSON:  Well, let's turn to page 19 of the compendium, which is the report of the Board, the cap and trade framework.  And just start from first principles, which is the guiding principles at the bottom of page 7, which is page 19 of the compendium.

The first guiding principle, of course, is cost-effectiveness.  Do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  And if we could turn over to page 21, and that's page 21 of the compendium:

“The utilities are to provide a strategy outlining the activities that the utility proposes to take, including buying allowances and undertaking abatement."

Is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That is accurate.  I can see that, and presumably the Board has developed their framework to last beyond 2017, as to be a long-term guidance for the utility, so I suspect some of these items are intended to be longer-term in thinking as well.

MR. ELSON:  The coverage is 2017 to 2022, four years, right?  Sorry, 2020, my apologies.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  2020, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And the utilities are required to provide their rationale behind their selection of compliance actions and options, obviously?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that is accurate.

MR. ELSON:  Could you turn to page 22 of the compendium?  At the bottom in the footnote, it says that:

"Customer-related GHG abatement activities must be incremental to the utility’s 2015-2020 multi-year DSM plans."

Do you see that footnote there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  So to me, that clearly contemplates customer abatement activities under the cap and trade plan that are incremental to those under the proposed DSM plans; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, there is no doubt there is contemplation of customer-related incremental abatement Activities, and we certainly did include one in our filing when we included the green investment fund, incremental energy efficiency work that the company is undertaking in 2017.

MR. ELSON:  Could you turn to page 28, please?  These are the guidelines that are appended to the DSM framework, and it says that DSM forecasts and customer-related abatement activity forecasts must be shown separately.

So, again this is clearly contemplating customer abatement activities under the cap and trade plans that are incremental to those under the DSM plan, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, they certainly seem to describe DSM.

MR. ELSON:  And at the bottom of page 28, we have the same footnote referring to GHG abatement activities being incremental to DSM plan activities?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, and presumably that footnote is also there to recognize that we shouldn't be double counting demand-side management as it is in our current plan.

MR. ELSON:  Of course.  And that footnote appears again at the bottom of page 30.  Do you see that there?  That’s page 30 of the compendium, I should say.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I see it.  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So we've just looked at a number of places where the cap and trade framework is talking about incremental abatement in addition to DSM plans, and I'll move now to the section of the framework that talks about potential overlap between DSM and cap and trade frameworks. That's on page 24 of the compendium, if you could turn that up at bottom of the page.

And this is the key section, and so I will read it.  It says:

"The introduction of the cap and trade program requires utilities to meet emissions reduction obligations, which creates the potential for significant overlap between existing DSM programs and future compliance plans. Several stakeholders argued that customer-funded DSM has now been supplanted by the cap and trade program, and therefore customer-funded DSM should be discontinued."

So that's the framework in which the Board provided the following paragraph and the following guidance saying:

"The OEB is confident that any potential overlap can be appropriately addressed through a robust EM&V process of the DSM framework.  The DSM framework also includes a mid-term review provision (to be completed by June 1, 2018) that will provide an appropriate opportunity to assess the DSM framework in light of the cap and trade program."

And so that last paragraph is in response to the submission that customer-funded DSM should be discontinued; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I can't presume to know how they made their decision.  Certainly that's what's captured here but...

MR. ELSON:  And the first sentence indeed says that overlap can be dealt with, the first sentence of the last paragraph, using a robust evaluation measurement and verification process, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Those are what the words say.  However, I would just take a step back and reiterate my point that DSM has been based on different objectives.

As we know, there is a balanced scorecard in place and carbon reductions is not one of those objectives.  So we do need to be cautious around when we are talking about EM&V and what elements are we talking about.

And so again, I think this is a complex matter that will require some discussion and some thought over time.

MR. ELSON:  You say that that's what those words say, but you need to be cautious and the issues are complex.

Are you disagreeing with that statement by the Board?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, I am certainly not disagreeing, just outlining that there are a number things, and so we just need to make sure that we understand the complexity.

MR. ELSON:  Absolutely.  And so the last sentence contemplates changes to the DSM framework in light of the cap and trade framework  Is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  It appears that's the basis of the review, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And it doesn't say whether or not abatement should be included in the utility’s compliance plans? 

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That's a fair statement and again, I think I just want to reiterate that there is no doubt in my mind that the framework was developed for the longer term purpose of including or considering contemplating an energy efficiency in some way, shape or form. 

In terms of the practicality of the matter, there was not adequate time in order to plan for and implement incremental demand-side management, and there was not just the clarity on the mechanisms in order to make all of it happen.

MR. ELSON:  Just to narrow the issue that much further, this page in the cap and trade more broadly does not say that Enbridge is relieved of its obligation to conduct an appropriate options analysis and optimization in 2017 and 2018, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, it does not say that.

MR. ELSON:  And Enbridge has not been relieved from its obligation to consider the cost effectiveness of abatement versus allowance purchases as part of its options analysis and optimization for 2017 and 2018, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We are not relieved of that responsibility, and take that responsibility and recognize there are a number of other factors that would also need to be considered in assessing customer abatement as an option.

MR. ELSON:  If you could turn back to page 17 of our compendium, this is an excerpt from your cap and trade compliance plan application.  In the underlined section, it says:

"The company believes the issue of including the existing and any incremental DSM activity into the company's compliance planning activities best suited for the mid term review."

Do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  So I'm just trying to get a better understanding of what the implications of this statement are.

Does that mean that Enbridge would not be including incremental abatement activities in its 2018 plan because the mid term review isn't going to happen until halfway through 2018?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think the issue of customer abatement and what we may or may not be contemplating is best suited for panel 2.  But certainly we're not precluding anything at this time.

MR. ELSON:  Is it fair to say that you haven't decided yet whether you are including abatement in your 2018 plan or not?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We have not made a final determination.  There is a number of discussions being had.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I'd like to ask you a bit about incentives, taking a bit of a different -- different topic for a moment.

Our view is that Enbridge's profits should increase if it obtains more cost-effective conservation savings which reduce customer bills and GHG emissions.

Do you agree with that principle?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think conceptually if we're expected to do more, there should be more in it to drive the successful results.

MR. ELSON:  Or similarly, Enbridge should have an incentive to invest in cost-effective conservation savings when that reduces bills and GHG emissions; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I think so.  Perhaps can I understand how we're -- how this fits into the 2017 compliance plan, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, and it relates to whether there is a possibility that there are current disincentives, and so let me ask you another question, which is that -- and I think you will agree with this as well -- that there shouldn't be a disincentive to invest in cost-effective conservation; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Certainly I believe there should not be a disincentive to invest in conservation.

MR. ELSON:  And under the DSM framework a number of mechanisms have been put into place to ensure that there are no disincentives?  Or at least to reduce the disincentives?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm not sure I can give a broad blanket agreement with that.  I think there were some things which perhaps do provide an inadvertent disincentive, but overall there is an incentive for the organization.

MR. ELSON:  I'd like to ask you about two potential disincentives.  The first is the possibility that if gas volumes are less than forecast due to conservation, a utility could lose revenue and profit due to conservation.

And I don't know if, Ms. Oliver-Glasford, you or Mr. Kacicnik, you are better suited to answer that question.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'll start, and if Mr. Kacicnik has something to add, I would certainly welcome that, but I think what you are referring to is the lost revenues from volumes, and in DSM there is a lost revenue adjustment mechanism which keeps the utility whole.

MR. ELSON:  And another possible disincentive relates to supply-side investments, and conservation can to a certain degree negate the need for supply-side investments at a broad level; is that fair to say?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think that's conceptually that's the concept.  We are undertaking an integrated resource planning study to that end.

MR. ELSON:  And I think this is self-evident, but supply-side investments generate profits through the rate of return on equity earned on rate base; right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so if conservation against the need to build supply-side investments it can erode profits over time?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I guess conceptually that would be the idea, but DSM is supposed to provide -- keep the utility whole.

MR. ELSON:  And so let me put it another way.  Enbridge's profits will rise if it sells more gas and if it adds more supply-side rate base, but their profits will not rise if they do more cost-effective conservation absent an explicit profit incentive mechanism; fair?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think conceptually there is no argument.

MR. ELSON:  If Enbridge invests in incremental conservation as part of its cap and trade compliance plans, how would you ensure that you don't lose revenue and profits due to reduced volumes or due to avoided supply-side investments?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think that could precisely be one of the matters that needs to be discussed as we move forward, is how do these things fit together.

MR. ELSON:  Has Enbridge completed any analysis of that internally?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, we are just trying to find an IR that we have that does address that question.  While my colleagues pull that one up, essentially we have done some high-level conceptual thinking of the matter, but we have not conducted any detailed cost/benefit analysis, if you will.

MR. ELSON:  And so while they're pulling up that...

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Again, that is Exhibit I, 1 EGDI BOMA 6, and it's responses (c) and (d), and it says:

“Enbridge has been considering options around merging the two frameworks at a conceptual level only.  Enbridge expects that the issue of convergence or not will be a discussion within the DSM midterm review."

And I would add "and moving forward perhaps even beyond that."

“Enbridge has not conducted at this time any detailed cost/benefit analysis."

MR. ELSON:  And so that's, I guess, talking about one option, which is that there is a convergence between abatement under the cap and trade compliance plan and under the DSM framework, but while those are two separate entities has Enbridge completed any analysis,  studies, or reports on how to remove the disincentives if Enbridge were to have incremental conservation specifically in its cap and trade compliance plan?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, we have not, but that sounds like a study that maybe we should be undertaking.

MR. ELSON:  I'd love to ask you an undertaking to provide that study, but I'm afraid that won't work.

And Ms. Oliver-Glasford, is that something that you have considered and could speak to on a generic level?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, which topic are you asking me to speak to on this?

MR. ELSON:  The topic of removing the disincentives to investing in conservation under a cap and trade compliance plan and what mechanisms you'd use.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I'm not -- I haven't given it enough thought, I apologize, to speak to it with any legitimacy at this time.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  So I have some somewhat miscellaneous questions -- that's my heading in my notes here -- which I will try to move through quickly.

The DSM framework now includes a 15 percent adder that is intended to address environmental, social, and economic benefits.  You are familiar with that?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I am.

MR. ELSON:  And I'm just looking to see if you can provide an undertaking to let us know if you assumed that the 15 percent adder was solely for GHG reductions, what the cost per tonne of carbon would be to correspond to that 15 percent adder?  Would you be able to provide an undertaking to look into that on a best-efforts basis?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I believe this was actually a large part of the discussion at the DSM multi-year hearing, so I believe it's on the record in that proceeding.  And if memory serves me correctly, it was roughly $17, 16 or $17.

MR. ELSON:  Would you be able to confirm that figure by way of an undertaking?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I can seek to confirm it, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO CONFIRM THE FIGURE OF $16 OR $17.

MR. ELSON:  And if you could turn to page 9 of our compendium; this is Interrogatory No. 1.  Table 1 gave us exactly what we were looking for, which was the TRC figures.  But could you also reproduce this table providing the figures for TRC plus by way of an undertaking, table 1?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I mean, I think it's fair to say that those numbers are going to be 15 percent higher.

MR. ELSON:  I'm not sure exactly how to do the math, otherwise I would have done it.  If it's possible to provide it by way of undertaking, that would be appreciated.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Okay.  Can I understand how that fits in were a 2017 compliance plan?

MR. ELSON:  It's a bit technical.  We have some numbers from Enbridge which are TRC plus figures, and being able to compare apples to apples will help us use the figures from the DSM proceeding in this proceeding.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think again I'm going to go back to the Board's guidance, direction on this matter where they said it's premature to apply the TRC or the SCT, which would be the TRC plus the 15 percent adder to the utilities compliance plan at this time.

The OEB will consider the use of additional tests such as the TRC or SCT after gaining experience with the assessment of the compliance plans.

MR. ELSON:  Now, Ms. Oliver-Glasford, to be fair, I don't think the Board precluded the use of those measures.  It just didn't mandate the use of those measures and basically hadn't made up its mind on the topic.  So I don't think there was a ruling from the Board in that framework that TRC is irrelevant as a way to assess cost effectiveness.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  If the Board would find that helpful, I will provide an undertaking.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the Board would.  I think part of the -- there’s nuanced issues here and obviously it is a matter of degree of advancing and how fast we're advancing is a -- I think what we're struggling with here is obviously the nexus between the two programs.  And to the extent that we do, we have articulated a desire to expand our knowledge and that things will happen over time, and this may be a way to do that.  So I think it does advance on the Board's policy objectives.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  We'll provide that undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8  TO REPRODUCE THE TABLE AT EXHIBIT K1.5, PAGE 9, PROVIDING THE FIGURES FOR TRC PLUS

MR. ELSON:  We had also asked that these figures exclude the customers who are responsible for purchasing their own allowances who are responsible for purchasing their own allowances, and I understand that that hasn't been possible because these 2017 programs haven't been completed yet, so you don't know exactly which customers are going to participate.

But I'm wondering if you can provide an estimate based on your most recent actuals, on a best efforts basis, stating any caveats and provisos that would be required; is that possible?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I believe there was a response to that request.  Let me just find it.

MR. ELSON:  It is the next page in the compendium, which is page 10.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So again, I'm going to reiterate that I'm not part of the DSM group now, so this is their response to the question:
"At this time, the company is not in a position to extract large final emitters and voluntary participants from its DSM programs and budgets.  Further, the company does not believe this analysis to be relevant to a review of its 2017 compliance plan, and would suggest the DSM mid term review is the most appropriate venue for such analysis."

MR. ELSON:  So if I had follow-up questions about feasibility, I'd have to direct those to Mr. McGill; that what you're saying?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Feasibility on DSM?

MR. ELSON:  Feasibility of extracting the participants who are responsible for their own emissions.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, the witness is Mr. Lister. But DSM, as you know, it works -- the profile of when the results come in, I don't know that you are going to get an accurate assessment of how the year is going at this particular time.

MR. ELSON:  I guess what I'm getting at is why can't you look at last you're results and figure out how many of those were voluntary participants, and then come up with an estimate.  If voluntary participants were 10 percent, then you reduce your numbers by 10 percent to give a rough figure.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  It is not quite that easy because we actually have to go through every single project and extract which ones would be from the opt-in participants.  So the time to undertake such an activity would be significant.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, well, I'll leave that there and consider whether it's worthwhile to continue it with our -- Mr. Lister is on the next panel?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  No, he is not.

MR. ELSON:  So the next panel is not better able to speak to this than you are?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  That would be correct.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So what I think you are saying is that ultimately, that's not feasible?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, that's our belief at this time.

MR. ELSON:  And would that also apply, if you turn back to page 9, just for the figures in G and H, part G and part H, which is the targets?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  So that I'm clear, what else are you looking for in G and H?

MR. ELSON:  To remove the voluntary participants or an estimated amount to remove from voluntary participants from those two figures -- not all the numbers in this interrogatory, but just those two figures.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I mean, every year the portfolio of customers changes, so I think there's a few things happening here.  One, it's difficult to pull the exacts.  Two, every year the composition of our customers, depending on the programs were offering, the uptake changes.

So again, there wouldn't be -- you are not comparing apples to apples every year.

We could take some sort of prorated, or some very heavily caveated numbers, if that's useful to you.  But again, every year the composition of the customers is different, the programs are different, so I just want to make sure that we're clear in not providing a sense that there is a clear trend when it's not so easy to provide that.

MR. ELSON:  And perhaps it wouldn't be any better than us just looking at your customer complement and noting that the voluntary participants are X percent; it would be roughly the same kind of analysis?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Right, right. That could be something, but again that's really...

MR. ELSON:  We could do that on our own because I think we have those figures, so I'm happy to move on.

I'd like to turn to an area that I think I can finish in time, which relates to the financial implications for abatement as a compliance tool if cap and trade is eliminated in the future, and potentially replaced with something else, whether that be carbon pricing or otherwise.

And to ask you those questions, I'd ask if you could turn to page 66 of the compendium.

This is an ICF presentation about the implications of Ontario's climate change policy.  Do you have that up there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, we can see it.

MR. ELSON:  If you turn to page 67, which is the next page, this is summarizing some of those implications.  I'll just read the first one.  It says:
"Natural gas consumption will need to decline by 40 to 50 percent by 2030.”

Then the first bullet says:

"Residential, commercial, and institutional natural gas consumption will need to decline by over 40 percent.”

Do you see those figures there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  And this is based on an analysis of how Ontario can meet its greenhouse gas emission reduction targets, right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  This was in the context of how Ontario would meet its -- or one potential way, in one consultant's view on this.

MR. ELSON:  And do you agree with ICF on this point, Ms. Oliver-Glasford?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think if you are just looking at the targets, all else being equal, this could be one way of looking at how Ontario could meet its objectives.

MR. ELSON:  And does Enbridge have any studies or analysis to estimate what natural gas consumption reductions will be necessary to achieve the 2030 targets other than this report here?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I don't think so.

MR. ELSON:  If I could turn to point 3, which refers to energy efficiency/demand-side management, it says that:

“The rate of energy efficiency needs to be dramatically increased..."

And it says:

“...plus 5 times the current."

Do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  And do you agree with ICF, roughly speaking?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Again, this is one consultant's view.  There's a number of different ways to get to the end point, so this could be one of those roads leading to the end point.

MR. ELSON:  And the targets are 150 megatonnes in 2020, 110 megatonnes in 2030, and 35 mega tonnes in 2050; is that right?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  And so if ICF is right and consumption needs to decline by over 40 percent by 2030 when the target is 110 megatonnes, how much will consumption need to decline by 2050, when the target is only 35 megatonnes?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Again, I'm not sure -- I mean, we can run the move, but I'm not just sure that I'm the appropriate person to be opining on the government's targets, goals how we get there.  I'm here today to talk about the 2017 compliance plan.

MR. ELSON:  So I think it would be fair to say that Enbridge doesn't know.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it's fair to say nobody really knows how we are going to get to our end goal.  There's pathways, and nobody has a perfect picture.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I just have a couple more questions on this particular point, and I'm happy to stop now, but if I had another three minutes I could have a natural break point.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, let's do that.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

And so page 68, if you could turn to that, please, and I'd like to refer to point 6 here, which states that:

“Enbridge will need to reimagine infrastructure and business model."

The first bullet under that says:

“Existing operations and plans for demand growth versus 2030/2050 targets and stranded pipe/storage assets."

The second bullet refers to:

“Combined impact of economy-wide demand destruction, as well as cost to deliver (including premature retirement of assets) and price of allowance on customers."

Do you see that there?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  And would you agree that demand destruction and stranded assets are real and important risks associated with carbon reductions that need to be mitigated?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think theoretically, perhaps, but again, you know, I think there's a lot of different factors at play, a lot of moving pieces, so I'm not sure that I'm going to be weighing into this category today.

MR. ELSON:  Well, this is where I'd like to go with this, which is to ask you the following question:  Would you agree that very significant incremental and natural gas conservation is needed to meet Ontario's greenhouse gas reduction targets regardless of whether the cap and trade program continues until 2020?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  Sorry, Mr. Elson, will you repeat that question?

MR. ELSON:  I will.  Would you agree that very significant incremental natural gas conservation is needed to meet Ontario's greenhouse gas reduction targets regardless of whether the cap and trade program continues until 2020?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I would just rephrase it by saying I think energy efficiency is required, broadly speaking, in society to meet our goals.  I'm not sure I would characterize it is incremental.  I think where it comes from and how it is developed, it will be an important factor in Ontario reaching its climate change goals.

MR. ELSON:  I guess I'm using incremental as -- to refer to more than what we have now planned.  There was a reference in this presentation to five times more, and I'm not asking for a specific number, but that specifically more natural gas conservation is going to be needed to meet greenhouse gas reduction targets because natural gas is such a significant portion of the overall emissions; is that fair to say?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. MURPHY:  If I could just jump in here, I think with this ICF study these potential implications are really looking at the worst-case scenario for the company, and they were meant as a way of educating management on what could be happening in the future, not necessarily that these reductions would need to occur if you consider there are other sources of GHG reduction within the province, not just natural gas.

So if all of the savings were to come from natural gas customers, this could be worst-case scenario, but there is, you know, vehicle electrification or other conservation of other fuels that could happen that would contribute to the province meeting their targets.

MR. ELSON:  Now, to be fair, this analysis that ICF conducted does not assume that all of the reductions will come from natural gas, does it?

MS. MURPHY:  I don't believe that that's the case, but I think they are considering if natural gas was reduced by the percentage, you know, proportionate to the target, which may or may not be the actual case.

MR. ELSON:  The assumption is that the reductions from natural gas are proportionate to the contribution of natural gas to Ontario's greenhouse gas emissions; is that what you're saying?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And so would you agree, at a maybe more broader level, that incremental natural gas conservation is needed as one of the ways to mitigate the risks of stranded assets?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think there's a, you know, perhaps a number of options as we look forward, and I don't want to steal panel 2 thunder, but if we look at renewable natural gas as a way to essentially decarbonize the grid or power to gas, a new technology that is being piloted currently and well-used in Germany, so I think to presume there is any one pathway to an end point is -- you know, it is based on what we know today, and technologies and innovation is always improving, so I'm not sure that we can make presumptions out to 2030.

MR. ELSON:  And again, to be fair, the ICF study did assume that there would be as much increase in renewable natural gas as it foresaw as being possible; is that fair to say?

MS. MURPHY:  Subject to check, we agree.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  One last question:  Would you agree that incremental natural gas conservation would still provide significant financial benefits relating to the price of carbon if cap and trade was replaced by a carbon tax?

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I think it depends on how the carbon tax was applied.  Again, volumetrically you pay for what you use.  So, you know, I think we just need to be conscientious that when you reduce your usage you presumably, if it's -- if any carbon pricing is applied on a volumetric basis it would reduce your cost.

MR. ELSON:  So if you had an equivalent carbon price, you know, $17 a tonne or even higher, then you would still be reaping the benefits of the abatement, because you would be avoiding those costs; is that fair to say?  Assuming, of course, that natural gas is covered by the carbon tax.

MS. OLIVER-GLASFORD:  I guess looking at one side of the equation, that could be true.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I only have a few more questions, but it will take us beyond 5:00.  So perhaps we should break at the moment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, I agree, Mr. Elson.  On that note, would it create any difficulties for your client, Mr. O'Leary, and you, Mr. Elson, to start at 9:00 a.m. on Thursday?

MR. ELSON:  None for me.

MR. O'LEARY:  None for me.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will adopt that schedule without any outburst of anguish from  Board Staff.  Sorry, I should have asked.

But I think if we could start at 9:00 o'clock, that would give us some insurance, but I would remind people that we are trying to keep it is a tight as possible.  Mr. Elson, I recognize your points that you've been taking this afternoon, but if we can be, I think, a little more focused on the relief sought.  These are all good hypothetical scenarios that you are putting forward, and I think it is evolving our thinking.  But we do have to stay on schedule.  So if we can make sure that we're tight on the cross-examination on the relevant factors, that would be helpful.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:55 p.m.
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